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Report from
the Chair
The great innovator and inventor Thomas Edison wryly observed that
“Vision without execution is mere hallucinations”. For the Environmental
Protection Authority 2016/17 has been a year of execution.

Pursuing our vision of An environment protected,
enhancing our way of life and the economy requires
us to have a strong sense of priorities, to focus
on initiatives that will contribute most to our bold
goal. Over the year, the Board has worked with EPA
management to ensure progress has been made in
respect of this vision.
The Chief Executive and Executive Leadership Team
are driving change across the EPA, working to build a
foundation of solid operational performance on which
to advance our strategic priorities. The principal change
is to channel more expertise, resources and effort into
strategic initiatives that further our vision. Operational
excellence will remain a given, but with smart systems
and documented processes, we can work more
efficiently to achieve that, whilst freeing-up time for
longer-term strategic initiatives.
The EPA has benefited from the expertise and insights
of the new General Managers and Chief Scientist,
whose appointments were noted at the end of the
previous reporting year. Under the Chief Executive’s
leadership, the Executive Leadership Team is working
well to improve performance and manage change.
This is reflected in our determination for the EPA to be
a proactive regulator, to anticipate and lead change,
rather than just react to it. That same impetus drives our
outreach activity, which sees us having a voice in key
public debates, and working closely in partnership with
stakeholders to achieve joint goals.

04 | LEADERSHIP REPORTS

Our key partnership is with Māori. Māori perspectives
suffuse our work, and are integral to the EPA’s decisionmaking processes. The Board has again benefited
from the advice and assistance of Ngā Kaihautū, our
statutory Māori advisory committee, on all matters that
come before us. Our He Whetū Marama framework is
gaining impetus, as it seeks to ensure that staff have
the capability and appropriate tools to apply a Māori
perspective in their work. Our aspiration is that iwi,
and Māori generally, have high levels of trust and
confidence in our work.
If that is our broad direction of travel, here are some of
the milestone accomplishments achieved along the way
in 2016/17.
In April, the EPA issued its first Red Alert notice,
warning the public of the dangers of using products
containing chlorothalonil, a broad-spectrum pesticide
used to control fungal leaf diseases. The Red Alert
is a precautionary notice designed to raise public
awareness about the specific dangers of using
particular hazardous substances. It represents a new
way for the EPA to promote safe use of products around
the home or in the garden. The chlorothalonil Red Alert
gained considerable media coverage, amplifying its
message among our target groups.
The EPA has initiated a modernisation programme for
chemical management in New Zealand. We are drawing
on international best practice, and have had discussions
with world-leading regulators across a range of
countries and agencies, including the OECD and the
European Chemical Agency.

We are also developing a screening model, which will
be used to prioritise the chemicals of most concern.
Our commitment to working in partnership with others
to discharge our functions, and keep communities safe,
was reflected in a nationwide series of workshops we
ran for territorial authorities. These organisations have
enforcement responsibilities under the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms (HSNO) Act, and work
across all communities in New Zealand. We met with
groups of territorial authorities in 11 centres across the
country, hearing first-hand the situations they face and
the difficulties they encounter. We also gathered their
views on possible solutions and system improvements.
This customer-centric way of working is being
embedded across the EPA, and encourages
development of durable, practical solutions to realworld problems.

An environment protected,
enhancing our way of life
and the economy
Being proactive means being vocal. The EPA is
becoming known as a leading voice in scientific debates
relevant to our work and role. Our Chief Scientist is
prominent in emphasising the evidence, data, and
science that underpins EPA decision making, working
across print and broadcast media, as well as having
an active speaking programme with industry and
other groups.
Our media profile has grown, as the EPA is willing to
explain its decision making and the thinking behind
it. Sometimes our decisions or views do not meet
with universal favour. This is especially so regarding
hazardous substances such as 1080, glyphosate, and
triclosan, among others. We listen to and respect
peoples’ views, but our overriding obligation is to
balance risks and benefits, apply the provisions of the
HSNO Act, and do what is best for New Zealand’s way
of life, economy, and the environment.
That approach also applies to hearings we administer
for proposals of national significance, and applications
for marine consents within New Zealand’s extensive
Exclusive Economic Zone. At year end, the EPA was
administering the hearing process for two major

Auckland roading proposals with regional and national
impacts. In August 2017 an EPA decision-making
committee issued its decision on applications to extract
and process iron sand from the seabed off the South
Taranaki Bight.
Such decisions, made in the full glare of the community,
media and interest group attention, matter to
New Zealanders. Kiwis are known for cherishing their
natural environment. We rely on the professional skill
of decision makers to make findings based on the
evidence, carefully weighing benefits and risks, and
applying the law. Making sound decisions is not about
being popular. But it does involve being accountable –
to the public, Ministers, and interest groups alike. That
is how independent regulatory agencies, such as the
EPA, operate in a democracy.
Environmental regulatory agencies face many
pressures. In the US, while President Trump has not
followed through on his campaign pledge to dismantle
the Environmental Protection Agency, a series of
executive orders has both curtailed its functions and
prescribed how it should operate. An initial budget
proposal suggested reducing its funding by 31 per cent.
Prevailing public opinion can underpin such drastic
measures. Over recent years, there has been a
groundswell of opposition to perceived bureaucracy
and a growing scepticism about science and the role of
so-called “experts”. New Zealand is not immune to this
– we have our share of science deniers, who oppose
fluoride, 1080, vaccinations, glyphosate, genetic
modification, and much more; and find their views
reinforced and nurtured in the unmoderated milieu of
the internet.
Never has it been more important for the scientific and
policy communities to speak clearly their truths, and
to hold fast to good science that serves people, the
economy, and the environment. That is our challenge
for 2017/18 and beyond.

Kerry Prendergast
Chair of the Board
Environmental Protection Authority
30 October 2017
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Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga
Taiao Korero
E kore e ngaro
tō purapura i ruia
mai i Rangiātea.
The seeds that were sown in
Rangiātea will never be lost.
Ko te wehi ki a Ihoa, nāna nei
ngā mea katoa.
Acknowledgements to the
source of all things.
Kei ngā mate huhua o te wā,
haere ki a nunui mā, ki
roroa mā. Haere ki te moenga
tē whakaarahia.
To the many deceased, we bid
you farewell to the resting place
from which you will not arise.
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Kei ngā ringa raupā,
kei ngā kaitiaki huri
noa i te motu; kei ō koutou
waka, ō koutou hapū, tēnā
koutou, tēnā koutou, tēnā
tātou katoa.
Sincere greetings to those
of you throughout the country
vigorously involved in kaitiaki
roles. I also acknowledge your
various tribal connections.

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao (Ngā Kaihautū) is the
statutory Māori advisory committee established to
provide advice and assistance to the EPA on matters
relating to policy, process, and decisions. The EPA
has statutory obligations to Māori within the Act by
which it was established and within a number of
the environmental acts and regulations for which it
is responsible.

It is timely to acknowledge the work of Tīpene Wilson
as Tumuaki, and thank him for his leadership of Ngā
Kaihautū. Its achievements over the time Tīpene has
been in the Tumuaki role have been important in
developing our credibility and relationships with iwi/
Māori. We are very fortunate that Tīpene remains as a
member of Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao and will serve
as Tumuaki Tuarua. He kōtuku rerenga tahi koe.

Our purpose is to provide advice and guidance to the
EPA Board, and ensure Māori perspectives are known
and incorporated into our daily work.
Ngā Kaihautū does not speak for individual hapū or
whanau, but rather we work as guardians, to ensure that
systems and processes will enable the most effective
outcomes for Māori within the current legislative
framework. Ngā Kaihautū encourages the voice of
Māori to come through in EPA processes, rather than
itself being that voice.

Mā tini, mā mano, ka rapa te whai
Lisa te Heuheu
Tumuaki – Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
30 October 2017

Our role is to apply our knowledge, experience and
expertise in tikanga, mātauranga, iwi relationships,
strategic thinking and governance, environmental
science, resource management, and primary
production, to help bring together te ao Māori and the
EPA and its functions.
In 2016/17, the focus of our work has been as supporters
and guardians of the continued implementation of He
Whetū Marama – the framework for ensuring staff have
the capability, tools, and opportunities to apply a Māori
perspective in their daily work.
In doing this, we have placed importance on connecting
with Māori to pass on knowledge and thinking on the
latest issues, and to listen and understand concerns
relevant to the EPA. The aim is to increase Māori
interest and participation in the EPA’s work, and
to continue to facilitate mātauranga Māori, or the
inclusion of key research or knowledge that benefits
New Zealanders.
As well as growing the connections between Māori
and the EPA’s work and staff, we support the further
development of the work begun this year to develop a
toolkit to help the organisations that need to engage
with Māori about an environmental matter subject to
the legislation the EPA administers.
The benefit of making such connections, early and
openly, can only be for the good of everyone. There is
only one Aotearoa and one world. He waka eke noa –
we’re all in this boat together.
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Chief Executive’s
overview
The EPA’s vision 'an environment protected,
enhancing our way of life and the economy'
has driven our strategic thinking and operational
delivery throughout the 2016/17 year.

Our vision challenges us to find a balance among
competing pressures in the search for a better
New Zealand. Like any meaningful vision, it is
deceptively simple. Protecting the environment does
not mean building a wall around it or immunising it
from change. Environments are dynamic, always
evolving, and the threats to them are ever changing.
Fortunately, so too are the scientific tools that we can
use to respond.
Enhancing our way of life and the economy is not
straightforward either. Managing our resources
sustainably means some short-term economic
opportunities go unrealised in the interests of
preserving environmental values and safeguarding
our future.
Our decisions matter. As this report shows, the EPA
makes history every day, through decisions that shape
New Zealand’s future. Our decision making relies on
facts, data and the science applied, using the expertise
of our highly-skilled scientific and technical staff.
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It also reflects the Māori perspective including
mātauranga Māori, the insights Māori have developed
about Aotearoa over almost a thousand years, and the
principles of the Treaty of Waitangi.
The Māori proverb Ka mua, ka muri, captures the way
that we forge our future by facing, honouring and
reflecting on our past. It is similar to Isaac Newton’s
observation, in a letter to Robert Hooke, that “If I have
seen further, it is by standing upon the shoulders of
giants”. And that observation itself is based on one by
the 12th century philosopher Bernard of Chartres.
So we make history by acknowledging history. As we
look at the possibility of genetically modified forage
grasses, I think of Nelson farmer James Marsden,
who in 1896, wrote to the local paper in response to an
inquiry about whether Chewings’ Fescue was a grass
adapted for poor land. Marsden provided an exposition
on what might constitute “poor land”, outlined the
characteristics of this particular grass and invited
the correspondent to visit his Isel estate to observe it
growing, separately or among other grasses. Marsden
noted he was the first to introduce and experiment with
the grass in Nelson.

Progress has always been made by those relying on
close observation, good science and a generosity
of spirit.
That ethos is captured in the EPA’s new values, which
were developed after a series of facilitated workshops
involving more than 90 per cent of our staff. Our
starting point is our belief that we work for the good
of New Zealand. We have big ideas, bold goals and
value scientific endeavour, mātauranga Māori, and
evidential decision making. We believe in doing good
for New Zealand.
These are ambitious aspirations. They point us
forwards, but would also resonate with those hardy
adventurers – both Māori and European – who settled
and developed New Zealand. I think of Charles Lowe,
a contemporary of Marsden’s, who set up a raspberry
farm 45 kilometres away in Riwaka. Faced with a glut of
the fruit, growers angrily dumped their crop into the sea
from Motueka wharf, and so Lowe sought a solution.
By then the manager of the Motueka Fruitgrowers
Co-op Factory, he filed a patent for a “Raspberry
Sulphurizer” that would preserve the fruit for both the
local and export markets. English jam makers baulked
at the grey, sludge-like appearance of sulphurised
raspberries. So Lowe modified the process to recreate
the luscious red colour the market desired. He returned
home from Britain a hero.
Problem solving, innovation, science, and creating
value. These are the cornerstones of our modern
economy and way of life. A hundred years on, I think
Lowe would feel at home at the EPA as we approve
– with sufficient controls – hazardous substances to
treat our crops, and new organisms to act as biocontrol
agents against pests threatening our flora.

We take the lead as a proactive regulator, being a
force for good rather than merely a passive recipient
of applications. We have started a comprehensive
chemical modernisation project, which will include
reassessing a series of dangerous chemicals and seeing
if existing permissions and controls are really keeping
our environment protected and our workers safe.
We also lead in outreach activity, with our Chief
Scientist being particularly active in promoting
the values of science and how we apply it to aid
sound decision making. The EPA partnered with the
Wellington City Council during the nationwide Safer
Homes Week, taking messages about safety with
hazardous substances in the home to a wide audience.
As an organisation, we work together as One EPA, full
of life and valuing the diversity of people and ideas.
We seek to harness the skills and strengths of all staff
to move the economy forward, while cherishing our
unique environment.

Dr Allan Freeth
Chief Executive
Environmental Protection Authority
30 October 2017

Progress has always been made by those
relying on close observation, good science
and a generosity of spirit.
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Shaping
our future
environment
One EPA – a force for good
As New Zealand’s environmental regulator, the EPA
is concerned with issues that go to the heart of our
national identity and economic well being. The bush,
the sea, rivers, and mountains symbolise who we are
and where we stand. They evoke deep feelings of
belonging and a restlessness of spirit that drives us
to be adventurers. We have come a long way since
Allen Curnow rued...

…what great gloom stands
in a land of settlers with
never a soul at home.
House and Land, 1941

Preserving and enhancing our natural home is a key
part of EPA’s role. So too is using evidence, science
and mātauranga Māori to make decisions about
responsible development, and innovations that will
further productivity.
Some of our decisions are about keeping citizens safe
and protecting our unique environment: we regulate
hazardous substances – everything from shampoo to
pesticides, fireworks to paints. We also make decisions
about fungicides, insecticides, herbicides, and a
range of other substances that further economic and
environmental goals.
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And on the broader stage, as the national regulator, we
are working to assist in the reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions and the use of ozone-depleting substances.
The EPA manages the Emissions Trading Scheme,
New Zealand’s main tool for meeting our international
climate change response obligations. Offshore, we
manage the environmental effects of activities such as
exploration and the use of marine resources in our vast
Exclusive Economic Zone, which covers four million
square kilometres.
This annual report tells how we discharge these
responsibilities. Essential to our effectiveness is our
commitment to operating as a single, unified force for
good. We strive to achieve unity of purpose, unity of
approach, and unity of identity.
Unity of purpose: Across the organisation we have
debated the key values, and underlying behaviours,
that will drive us to achieve our vision. Our values today
emphasise passionate people working as One EPA. We
are driven to put customers first, to partner with our
stakeholders, and to serve the nation.
Unity of approach: We have initiated a customer
centricity programme to put customers at the centre
of our One EPA. New systems and processes are
being developed, including a revised customer
feedback system. We want all customers to experience
a high-quality response to their needs, both spoken
and unspoken.
Unity of identity: What we do matters most, but
how we appear is also important. We aspire to be
professional, direct, approachable, and consistent.
We are therefore revising how we present reports,
publications, and our website, to reinforce these values.
The website is particularly important as a key source
of information for our customers. We have initiated a
project to modernise the site, making it fully searchable
using intuitive navigation, improved features, and
refreshed content.

Keeping people safe

Science leadership

During the year we provided information for consumers
about safe use of household chemical products such as
cleaners, detergents, toiletries, cosmetics, fuels, and
garden products. There is a wide range of information
on our website; and our Facebook page provides
regular updates. Launched in August 2016, a year later
the site had been viewed 93,000 times.

Facts, data and science underpin EPA’s decision making
across the whole range of our work. Our scientists
and technologists are well regarded domestically and
internationally. Their work furthers our goal of being a
proactive, forward-looking regulator.

In May, we partnered with the Wellington City Council
on activities contributing to Safer Homes Week. We
ran an online safety campaign about staying safe with
hazardous substances at home, in the garden, and in
the community. Staff from various parts of EPA gave
up weekend time to work on our display stand at the
Michael Fowler Centre, answering public inquiries and
handing out safety sheets on everything from paint to
pesticides, shampoo to spa chemicals. About 1,000
people attended the Saturday exhibition, and several
schools sent students to the Friday event.
Our Kaupapa Kura Taiao team spoke on iwi radio about
the initiative and consumer safety issues. This followed
interviews on fireworks safety which our Manahautu,
Doug Jones, gave to various iwi radio stations in the run
up to Guy Fawkes Day in 2016.

But science leadership entails more than having a good
reputation. It requires us to be engaged externally,
explaining and championing our role, our decisions,
and their scientific foundation as well as addressing
criticisms that may arise about how we have discharged
our functions.
We also lead by influencing and networking with
partners such as Crown Research Institutes, industry
organisations, research institutes, and universities, both
here and abroad. Using this web of connections we
articulate science theory, especially regulatory science
theory and practice, to build trust and confidence
among influential stakeholders.
The newly-created role of EPA Chief Scientist is
pivotal to this work. The role is designed, among other
things, to promote scientific understanding among the
public and other EPA stakeholders by explaining its
application, methods, limitations, and opportunities
for EPA decision making. We have been fortunate to
recruit Dr Jacqueline Rowarth, formerly Professor of
Agribusiness at Waikato University, and an experienced
science champion and communicator, as our inaugural
Chief Scientist.
Dr Rowarth has participated in various scientific
conferences and events, written articles on aspects
of science relating to the EPA, and is a frequent
commentator on these issues on radio and television.

93,000
views of our Facebook
page in its first year
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International connections

Presentations have been made to international
audiences on issues such as:

The EPA’s responsibilities cover a range of international
agreements and instruments, such as the Rotterdam
Convention on international trade in certain hazardous
chemicals, the Cartagena Protocol on trade in
living modified organisms, and the UN Framework
Convention on Climate Change. Our work in meeting
New Zealand’s obligations under these and other
agreements is recorded throughout this report.

• New Zealand’s hazardous substances
regulatory environment

These obligations reinforce that we all live and work in
a global ecosystem. What we do affects others, what
others do affects us, and what we all do affects our
planet. We work with our nearest neighbour, Australia,
on issues of mutual interest through HEPA, the Heads
of EPA Australia and New Zealand. We hosted our
Australian colleagues in Wellington in September 2016,
with one focus being opportunities for regulatory
harmonisation. The forum wants to work towards a
coherent Australasian regulatory environment covering
land, air, ground, and marine water, noise and, where
relevant, radiation and biodiversity. A subsequent
meeting was held in Sydney, where chemical
contamination of groundwater was a key topic. With
this in mind, the Australian EPAs are interested in our
work on reassessments and chemical modernisation.
During the year we initiated a staff exchange
programme with the National Offshore Petroleum
Safety and Environmental Management Authority of
Australia. An Australian secondee joined our Exclusive
Economic Zone Compliance team late in 2016, and we
now have one of our staff seconded to Perth.
Our range of international commitments and
connections is shown by this selective list of recent
activities. Staff have attended events such as:
• a meeting of signatories to the Cartagena Protocol
on Biosafety
• meetings of the UN Committee of Experts on the
Transport of Dangerous Goods and the Globally
Harmonised System of Classification and Labelling
of Chemicals
• the European Food Safety Authority’s Panel on Plant
Protection Products and their Residues
• the OECD Working Parties on Hazard Assessment
and Exposure Assessment
• the AGM of International Offshore Petroleum and
Exploration Regulators
• the annual Regional System Administrators Forum,
for managers of national emissions trading registers.
EPA staff are also in demand as speakers at overseas
events, as there is general interest in New Zealand’s
developing approach to environmental regulation.
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• decommissioning of oil and gas facilities, in the
context of the current legal framework and changes
made in the Resource Legislation Amendment Act
• the work of EPA’s New Organisms team
• effective tāngata whenua/indigenous engagement
for hazardous substances applications.

Incorporating mātauranga
Māori into our decision
making
We are beginning to discuss weaving mātauranga
Māori with “conventional science” to create a uniquely
New Zealand way of addressing environmental issues.
The huge body of Māori knowledge about our flora,
fauna, land, waters, and sky is based on centuries of
observation, experience, and testing. This is very similar
to what we call the scientific method, but has extra
spiritual and cultural dimensions. Marrying the two
involves addressing issues of evidence, risk, law,
and belief.
Our Kaupapa Kura Taiao team has developed a
mātauranga Māori work programme, which includes a
decision-making framework for use across the EPA and
beyond. While Kaupapa Kura Taiao is leading this work,
we will educate and empower all staff to be confident
users of what will be an exciting new paradigm.
Kaupapa Kura Taiao has worked throughout the year
to train staff in incorporating Māori perspectives into
decision making. It has also run training modules on Te
Tiriti o Waitangi, so we understand our obligations and
the roles, and rights, of both Treaty partners.
Our approach is of international interest. During the
year two staff attended a congress of the International
Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural
Resources focused on exploring the role of indigenous
knowledge systems in environmental management,
and how this knowledge can be incorporated alongside
science for robust decision making. Staff also made a
presentation on effective tāngata whenua engagement
for hazardous substance applications at a Society for
Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry conference
in Singapore.

Essential to our effectiveness is our
commitment to operating as a single,
unified force for good. We strive
to achieve unity of purpose,
unity of approach and unity of identity

Chemical review
The EPA is responsible for assessing the economic,
environmental and human health risks and benefits of
hazardous substances. At the beginning of the reporting
year the EPA published the results of a wide-ranging
chemical review that reclassified 200 hazardous
substances approved for use in New Zealand.

Reassessing hazardous
substances
We are improving our systems and processes, and
using sharper assessment tools to identify potential
risks. This is cutting-edge work, and we are drawing
on international best practice. Staff have discussed
these issues with regulators in a range of countries, the
European Chemical Agency, and during an OECD joint
meeting of the Chemicals Committee and Working
Party on Chemicals, Pesticides and Biotechnology. We
are clear about the way forward, and this project will
gain impetus in the next reporting year.
As new scientific information emerges, the hazard
potential of any particular substance may worsen
or reduce, so the controls imposed may need to be
tightened or relaxed, or approval may be withdrawn
completely.
As a proactive regulator the EPA is committed to
reducing harm to people from hazardous substances,
and preventing damage to the environment. Our
hazardous substances reassessment programme
involves amending controls and changing the approval
status of substances if we establish that the risks to
human safety and the environment have changed.
We have formed a full-time reassessment team for
this purpose. Our science-based framework for
reassessment prioritises reducing adverse effects, such
as danger to consumers, and threats to freshwater
ecosystems from pesticides.

Chemical and toxicological data and international
activity on around 300 chemicals will be collated and
run through our prioritisation screening model. This will
identify the priority hazardous substances to address.
After information has been analysed, a call for public
submissions may be made followed by a public hearing,
where submitters may appear in person. A decisionmaking committee will consider all written and oral
evidence in relation to the substance under review, plus
an analysis prepared by EPA scientists.
The committee has a wide range of options available to
it: it can ban the substance, approve its use in specified
circumstances, including use of particular controls, or
approve it for general sale, again with controls.
This is the EPA’s standard reassessment process for
hazardous substances.
The first reassessment under the new framework, which
began in June 2017 will be of paraquat-containing
herbicides. The main concern is paraquat’s severe
effects on human health and aquatic environments.
A call for information has been sent to stakeholders,
seeking data about paraquat formulations, how
the products are actually used, their benefits, the
availability of alternatives, and known incidents or
injuries arising from its use.

Red Alerts to keep
people safe
Our first Red Alert notice warned the public of the
dangers of using products containing chlorothalonil, a
broad-spectrum pesticide used to control fungal leaf
diseases in vegetables, ornamental crops, and turf. Red
Alerts are a new precautionary tool we have introduced
to raise awareness about dangers arising from use of
particular hazardous substances.
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The EPA initiated reassessment of chlorothalonil based
on new evidence that came to light when considering
an application for a fungicide containing the substance.
This found there were unacceptable human health risks
that could not be mitigated by imposing controls on its
use in a domestic setting.
The EPA therefore banned four products from sale in
New Zealand. A fifth approval was retained, but tighter
controls added, so products can only be used by
trained and certified commercial operators in
workplace settings.

Hazardous substances
applications
In assessing applications for new hazardous
substances, the EPA balances their potential economic
and environmental benefits against the risks they pose
to human health and the environment. We rely on
scientific evidence when making these decisions. The
following list provides a flavour of the range of our work
over the year:

Applications approved
Poncho Votivo: This is a new version of an insecticide
to protect corn, wheat grass, and brassica crops from
a range of pests. Applied to seeds before sowing,
this product contains a lower concentration of the
neonicotinoid clothiandin, alongside a soil-dwelling
micro-organism called Bacillus firmus. The latter has not
previousy been used as an insecticide active ingredient.
HFO-1234yf: This is a refrigerant gas that does
not harm the ozone layer, for use in domestic and
commercial refrigeration and vehicle air conditioning.
With a comparatively low global warming impact and
zero ozone-depleting rating, this product can replace
others more harmful to the environment.
ElatusPlus: This is a fungicide to protect wheat crops
from a range of diseases. Resistance to fungicides is
of increasing concern to arable farmers, who harvest
around 400,000 tonnes of wheat annually. This product
contains the active ingredient solatenol, which has not
previously been approved under the HSNO Act.

Applications declined
Exirel Insecticide: This product is approved for groundbased use to control caterpillars and aphids in fodder
brassica crops such as turnips, swedes, forage, rape,
and kale. But the EPA rejected an application to use
Exirel as an aerial spray because of the risks it posed to
aquatic organisms, with no additional benefits.
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Antifouling paints: Antifouling, or bottom paints, are
specialised coatings applied to the hulls of ships. They
can be serious environmental pollutants. Based on an
earlier reassessment, the EPA decided that, from 1 July
2017, such products containing the chemicals diuron,
octhilinone, and ziram will no longer be imported or
made in New Zealand. All antifouling paints must now
carry label advice on controls relating to their use and
application, as well as information about disposing of
old paint from boats, used paint cans, rollers, gloves
and coveralls.

Hazardous substances
of concern to the public
The information above shows how the EPA looks to
balance risks and benefits when assessing hazardous
substances, using the latest scientific data and
analysing research done by overseas regulatory
bodies, and the decisions they make as a result. We
try to communicate our decisions, and the evidence
underpinning them, clearly and directly. We do not
make light of people’s concerns. However, the position
we develop as a result of our robust analyses may
not allay public concern about specific chemicals.
Glyphosate and triclosan are cases in point.
Glyphosate: Glyphosate is a broad-spectrum herbicide
that works by inhibiting an enzyme found in plants.
Glyphosate substances are perhaps the most common
herbicides used by home gardeners. They have been in
use since 1978. Based on the current evidence available,
the EPA’s view is that, provided users follow safety
instructions on the label, glyphosate substances are
safe for use in the garden.
The World Health Organisation’s research unit, the
International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC),
reviewed research data on glyphosate in 2015, and
classified it as “probably carcinogenic to humans.”
IARC’s approach is to identify chemical hazards, it
does not assess the risks from using chemicals. Its
determination only relates to whether glyphosate has
the potential to cause cancer, and this finding has been
the subject of ongoing debate and controversy.
We commissioned Dr Wayne Temple, a toxicologist
and former Director of the New Zealand National
Poisons Centre, to review any evidence relating to
potential carcinoginity. We released his report in
August 2016, and it is available on the EPA website. The
report concluded, on all the evidence available, that
glyphosate is unlikely to be genotoxic or carcinogenic
to humans, and, on current evidence, does not require
classification under the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act as a carcinogen or mutagen.

However, the status of a substance can change due to
advances in scientific research and new information,
suggesting that the risks to human health or the
environment may not be adequately managed by
existing controls. When this happens the EPA may
reassess its approval for the substance or consider
issuing an immediate warning. Glyphosate is
on our reassessment “watch list,” which means
we are constantly monitoring its status and
international developments.
Nonetheless, glyphosate is classified by the EPA as a
hazardous substance, and its safe use requires users
to follow the instructions on the label and the controls
imposed. This classification and safe-use approach is
supported by the work of other national authorities in
the USA, Canada, the European Union, and Australia.
Triclosan is commonly used as an antibacterial
compound in products such as hand soaps and gels,
body washes, and some toothpastes. It can also be
found in cleaning aids and paints. Triclosan is also used
to stop the growth of fungicide, bacteria and mildew,
so can be found in plastic, rubber, textiles, leather, and
paper products. The EPA has set maximum limits of up
to 0.3 per cent for the proportion of triclosan permitted
in cosmetics, including toothpaste and mouthwash.
The United States and European regulatory authorities
have restricted the use of triclosan and triclocarban, a
related chemical, in various soaps and human hygiene
products sold directly to the public. Their reasons
include the detrimental effects these chemicals have on
aquatic organisms; their breakdown products are toxic
and carcinogenic; they are mild endocrine disruptors;
they persist in the environment for a long time; and
their over-use may contribute to bacterial resistance to
antimicrobial chemicals.
Early in 2016, the EPA received an application to
reassess triclosan. Although an EPA Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms sub-committee found
that sufficient grounds exist for a reassessment, the
most recent scientific data and evidence available at
this time considers a range of organophosphates and
carbamates to be of higher concern. Therefore these
substances have been prioritised for reassessment,
ahead of triclosan. However, we continue to gather
relevant information on triclosan. We will assess the
results of studies requested by US and European
agencies as they become available and will factor them
into our ongoing decision making.

Hazardous substances
compliance and
enforcement
During the year we developed a four-year EPA
compliance and enforcement programme for hazardous
substances. Our compliance role will change under
the health and safety reforms, as we will have specific
enforcement functions alongside other enforcement
agencies, such as the Civil Aviation Authority, Maritime
New Zealand, the Ministry of Health, the New Zealand
Transport Authority, WorkSafe New Zealand, and
the Commissioner of Police. We are sharpening our
focus from primarily an educative one, to ensuring
compliance, and taking action when compliance does
not occur.
During the year, the compliance team reported on the
use of methyl bromide, aquatic herbicides, and the
enforcement activities of agencies with responsibilities
under section 97 of the Hazardous Substances and
New Organisms Act. It also compiled an annual
report on 1080 aerial operations. Key findings are
summarised below.
Annual Report on the Aerial Use of 1080
(Year to 31 Dec 2015): The EPA is aware of some public
unease about the use of 1080 for controlling pests
such as possums, wallabies, rabbits, rats, and stoats.
Our predecessor, the Environmental Risk Management
Authority, reassessed 1080 in 2007 and, while imposing
tighter controls, concluded its benefits outweighed
any adverse effects. The Parliamentary Commissioner
for the Environment came to the same conclusion
after her 2011 evaluation, noting that 1080 is both
safe and effective. Her view remains unchanged in
2017. She noted that aerial drops of 1080 are crucial
in protecting vast areas of the conservation estate,
and that the substance naturally breaks down in the
environment, and leaves neither permanent residues in
water or soil, nor bioaccumulates in plants or animals.
For the past decade, the EPA has required all operators
to report on all 1080 aerial operations. This enables us
to monitor use, and promote best practice regarding
pre-operation planning and operational management.
The aims of aerial application are to reduce the impacts
of targeted pest species on native animals and plants,
and to prevent the spread of bovine tuberculosis.
Aerial operations focused on protecting significant
ecosystems, indigenous species, and their habitats,
including at-risk populations of birds such as the whio
(blue duck), kokako, mohua (yellowhead), and kiwi.
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None of the 446 water samples taken following aerial
1080 operations exceeded approved safe levels of the
pesticide. The report also includes information about
research conducted into alternatives to 1080 and
suggested improvements for use.
HSNO Monitoring Report: Each year the EPA reports
on the effectiveness of hazardous substances and new
organisms controls it administers under the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act. This year’s
report is wide-ranging, and includes data about harm
attributable to people from hazardous substances in
general and in the home, as well as harm arising from
fireworks, persistent organic pollutants, and lead. It
also surveys harm to the environment from pesticides
in groundwater and aquatic herbicide residues; and
provides data on the impact of hazardous substances
on soils and bee health; information on recent
biocontrol agents used in New Zealand, and field tests
for genetically modified organisms.
The report notes a 25 per cent reduction in
hospitalisations attributable to hazardous substances
over the past decade. Three-quarters of those admitted
to hospital stayed for less than 24 hours. The rate of
hospitalisation for the most vulnerable group – the
under-fives – fell by 34 per cent over the decade.

Nationwide workshops with
territorial authorities
Territorial authorities are responsible for enforcing
the HSNO Act in public and private places (but not
workplaces) within their territorial boundaries. They
have a significant compliance and enforcement role
across the country, and are a source of intelligence
about what is happening in their area, including
incidents involving hazardous substances.
Through our nationwide series of workshops for
territorial authorities we learned about the strengths of
existing approaches, practical problems enforcement
staff encounter, and how they might be overcome. We
also invited participants to step back from the dayto-day, and address system-wide issues about what
more could be done to keep communities safe and the
environment protected.
After a successful pilot workshop at the Northland
Regional Council in Whāngārei in November 2016,
10 further workshops were held across the country,
the last being in New Plymouth in June 2017. Each
workshop was attended by enforcement officers and
managers responsible for regulatory functions from a
range of territorial authorities. There was a high level
of engagement and interaction, with participants being
frank about their frustrations, and suggesting ways to
improve the compliance system.
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Our next steps are to summarise the issues and
prepare a series of recommendations for action.
A representative group has been established,
with members representing a cluster of territorial
authorities. Our focus on listening to councils was very
well received. One attendee summed up the views of
many by noting: “Usually when government agencies
come to us they come to lecture, not to listen. This is a
refreshing change.”

Working safer reforms:
hazardous substances
Responsibility for regulating hazardous substances
and new organisms in the workplace will transfer
to WorkSafe from 1 December 2017, under the new
Health and Safety at Work Act. Up until that date they
will continue to be regulated by the EPA under the
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act.
The EPA will still play an important role in protecting
people and the environment from harm, as we remain
responsible for the hazardous substances approvals
process, and for setting rules in areas such as:
• product labelling, safety data sheets, and packaging
• managing the environmental risks of hazardous
substances (including in workplaces)
• disposal of hazardous substances (including in
workplaces)
• using hazardous substances in non-workplaces.
Under the new system, the EPA will issue Notices
relating to many of these issues. A series of Notices has
already been developed to consolidate and simplify
existing rules in areas such as labelling, packaging, and
the content of safety data sheets. This consolidation has
taken an extraordinary effort from staff across the EPA.
The working safer reforms form part of government’s
response to the Pike River Mine tragedy. They seek
to ensure a reduction in immediate harm, and longerterm illness, caused by work-related use of hazardous
substances. There are an estimated 600 to 900 deaths
and 30,000 cases of serious illness from work-related
disease in New Zealand each year. Many are attributed
to exposure to hazardous substances. This underpins
the critical significance of agencies’ work to reduce
harm and to promote safety.

New organisms
The EPA manages the approvals process for bringing
new organisms into the country. The aim is to ensure
the benefits from any new organism outweigh any risks
to human health or the environment, as all of us are
aware of how our environment has suffered by the wellmeaning, but disastrous introduction of pests such as
rabbits, possums, and koi carp.
We now use biological control agents – living organisms
– as one way to combat pests, insects, weeds and plant
diseases that can damage agricultural crops and native
flora. Such agents are now an important part of the
mix, alongside pesticides and herbicides, in protecting
New Zealand’s productive base and quality of life.
In August, the EPA asked for proposals about
deregulating organisms that should no longer be
designated “new” organisms. Reclassification can occur
where an organism, such as a plant, micro-organism or
insect has formed a self-sustaining population, and is
not part of any domestic eradication programme. The
rule applies to any insect, plant, or microbe that arrived
in New Zealand after the HSNO Act came into effect
on 29 July 1998. The aim is to reduce the regulatory
burden on anyone working with such organisms,
perhaps to propagate or study them. We received
and assessed more than 50 proposals, and have
recommended to the Ministry for the Environment that
many should be deregulated.
During the year a range of new organisms approvals
were granted. They include:
Jumping spiders: Canterbury University applied to
import species of spiders from the family Salticidae
into New Zealand for research purposes. Recent
international research has identified hundreds of
new species within this family, with those of interest
coming from tropical and sub-tropical regions including
Australia, Kenya, and the Philippines. Measuring less
than a centimetre, these spiders have exceptional visual
and spatial abilities, and researchers will investigate
how they are able to pre-empt and execute decisions
using these skills. The spiders are of great interest in the
fields of biology and biorobotics.
Arundo wasp and arundo scale insect: Northland
Regional Council applied to release these two insects
as biological control agents for the giant reed weed.
This woody, bamboo-like grass grows in dense clumps
up to five metres high, and can threaten wetlands and
block waterways. It can also provide a habitat for rats
and possums. The arundo wasp injects its eggs into the
stems of the giant reed, which causes a growth or gall
that stunts and sometimes kills the stem. The arundo
scale insect sucks nutrients from the stem, reducing the

plant’s growth rate. As the two insects’ feeding niches
do not overlap, their combined effect on the giant reed
can be significant.
Genetically modified T cells: The Malaghan Institute
applied to develop genetically modified Chimeric
Antigen Receptor T cells as a potential therapy for
various blood cancers. If the work under this approval
is successful, it may lead to a release application for
clinical trials.

Environmental protection
in New Zealand’s Exclusive
Economic Zone
New Zealand’s Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ) is one
of the world’s largest, covering four million square
kilometres of ocean and extending up to 370 kilometres
offshore. The EEZ Act promotes the sustainable
management of natural resources within the zone and
protects the environment from pollution. Under the
Act, the EPA is responsible for managing the effects of
specified restricted activities in the EEZ and continental
shelf, including the exploration and use of marine
resources, and energy production from water and wind.
In keeping with our role as a proactive regulator, the
EPA has developed an EEZ compliance programme for
delivery in 2017/18. It will prioritise activity according
to risk, focusing initially on managing produced water
discharges, which are the main source of potential
pollution from offshore oil and gas facilities.
During the year our work included considering two
significant applications for marine consents and/or
marine discharge consents.
Trans-Tasman Resources Ltd: In August 2016 TransTasman Resources Ltd (TTRL) applied to the EPA for
marine consents and marine discharge consents to
extract and process iron sand from the seabed of the
South Taranaki Bight.
The applications covered almost 66 square kilometres
of seabed 22-36 kilometres offshore, in waters 20-42
metres deep. TTRL sought to extract, and process for
export, up to five million tonnes of iron sand annually
for up to 35 years. The de-ored sediment – around
45 million tonnes per year – would be returned to the
seabed in the area from which it was extracted.
The EPA publicly notified TTRL’s applications in
September 2016, and called for submissions. We
appointed a four-person decision-making committee
to consider the application and submissions, and to
conduct public hearings.
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Submissions closed in December and a record 13,733
were received, reflecting significant interest in the
applications from the public, iwi, and environmental
groups. The hearings, and issues raised by the
submissions, generated considerable media attention
and interest group comment. The hearings opened
in Wellington in February 2017, continued in New
Plymouth, and closed back in Wellington in May 2017.
Under the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act the decision-making
committee must take into account a wide range of
environmental impacts, and impacts on existing
interests, along with the potential economic benefit and
efficient use and development of natural resources.
On 10 August 2017, we publicly released the decision
to grant, subject to conditions, the TTRL marine
consent applications.
Shell Todd Oil Services: In April 2017, Shell Todd Oil
Services (now known as Shell Taranaki Ltd) applied for
marine and marine discharge consents relating to the
installation of a jack-up rig at its Māui platforms off the
New Plymouth coast. A jack-up rig is an extendable oil
drilling platform, enabling it to be adjusted to varying
heights above sea level. Public submissions on the
application closed in June.

Meeting New Zealand’s
climate change obligations
New Zealand has international obligations to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions under the United Nations’
Framework Convention on Climate Change.
Reducing emissions is essential to curbing the rate
of climate change.
The key tool for accomplishing this in New Zealand
is the Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS), which is
administered by the EPA. The ETS puts a price on
greenhouse gas emissions. This creates a financial
incentive for businesses to invest in technologies and
practices that reduce emissions. It also encourages
forest planting, by allowing eligible foresters to earn
New Zealand emission units as their trees grow and
absorb carbon dioxide.
The ETS requires sectors of the economy to report on
their emissions and, with the exception of agriculture,
to purchase and surrender emission units to the
Government for those emissions. Just over half of
New Zealand’s greenhouse gas emissions are covered
by ETS surrender obligations. An emission unit
represents one metric tonne of carbon dioxide, or the
carbon dioxide equivalent of any other greenhouse gas.
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The EPA is participating in a review of the ETS led by
the Ministry for the Environment. Our focus is on the
compliance and penalty regime that underpins the ETS.
In August 2016, the EPA launched the New Zealand
Emissions Trading Register (the Register), replacing the
earlier New Zealand Emissions Unit Register. The new
system replaces static forms with online functionality,
helps individuals to manage their own activities, and is
more secure and flexible. The Register acts like a bank,
but holds emissions units rather than money. Anyone
wanting to trade emission units in New Zealand must
have an account in the register, which holds all the
emission units in New Zealand, including those held by
the Crown.

Proposals of national
significance
Under the Resource Management Act applicants
may lodge Proposals of National Significance with
the EPA. These are for very large, complex projects
having regional or national impacts. Decisions on them
are made by a Board of Inquiry or the Environment
Court. The EPA’s role is to advise the Minister and
administer the hearing process if the Minister decides
a proposal should be referred to a Board of Inquiry.
Factors the Minister takes into account include whether
the proposal involves significant use of natural and
physical resources; is likely to result in or contribute to
significant or irreversible changes to the environment;
affects or is likely to affect more than one region or
district; or is likely to be significant in terms of the
Treaty of Waitangi.
In December 2016, the New Zealand Transport Agency
lodged two Proposals of National Significance with
the EPA. The Northern Corridor proposal covers
construction of the last link of the Auckland Western
Ring route, which would provide an alternate route from
South Auckland to the North Shore. The East West Link
proposal would create a new four-lane arterial road and
causeway from Onehunga to Penrose.
In February 2017, Ministers decided both proposals were
of national significance and referred them to separate
Boards of Inquiry. Hearings on the East West Link opened
late in June 2017 and were concluded on 18 September
2017, whilst the Northern Corridor hearings began in midJuly and concluded on 14 August 2017.

Giving it a nudge
To promote our approach of making compliance easy
for customers, the EPA is experimenting with “nudge
theory”, which is based on insights from behavioural
science. The central idea is that the ways in which
choices are designed and presented influence the
decisions people make. Design should reflect how
people actually think and decide – instinctively and
often irrationally – rather than how authorities usually
assume they will – logically and rationally.
This means emphasising indirect encouragement and
enablement, over direct instruction or enforcement.
A local authority, for example, might improve the
availability and visibility of rubbish bins, rather than
putting up yet more signs saying No Littering and Those
caught littering will be fined.
We have just tested this approach by supplying a
guidance document to those who have to submit annual
emissions returns.
We considered the trend for reduced instruction
manuals – such as the minimalist “quick guides” that
come with most smart phones – and wondered whether
supplying guidance to people might actually make them
drag their feet in filing their return.
So we provided half of those who had to submit a return
with guidance, and the other half with just a simple
reminder email (although guidance and support was
available if they needed it).
We found there was no significant difference in the
date people filed their return. However, when we
sent a survey to gauge customer satisfaction with the
emissions return process, recipients of the guidance
document were generally more positive.
The numbers in this trial were too small to enable us to
draw any firm conclusions, and we will need to repeat
the test a few times to be confident of the results.
We will be looking to repeat this work, and to consider
whether we can use more “nudges” to keep
delivering the best results for New Zealanders and
their environment.
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Problem solving, innovation,
science and creating value
Vision
The EPA’s vision: An environment protected, enhancing
our way of life and the economy, guided our strategic
thinking and operational delivery throughout 2016/17.
While aspirational, we will make the vision real through
a series of tangible deliverables, the first of which are
described in this report.
Our vision aligns with the Government’s commitment
to building economic prosperity and fostering
New Zealand’s unique natural environment. It requires
us to balance competing pressures in pursuit of
these goals.

Our vision is supported by our wawata, or aspiration:
Ka whai mōhio ā Te Mana Rauhi Taiao whakatau i te
hononga ake, i te hononga motuhake a Ngāi Māori
ki te Taiao – the unique relationship of Māori to the
environment informs EPA decision making.
The wawata reflects the important contribution to
our work of Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, our
statutory Māori Advisory Committee. It also
acknowledges our commitment to fulfilling our
responsibilities to the Treaty of Waitangi.

Strategy
The EPA seeks to achieve its vision, 'an environment
protected, enhancing our way of life and the economy',
through the strategic framework developed in 2015/16.
This is detailed in our current Statement of Intent. The
framework includes four strategic goals, which describe
what we will achieve; and four corresponding pillars,
which outline how we will achieve. There are also four
strategic intentions, which describe the associated
outcomes we are striving for.

Particular areas of work the Minister for the
Environment has asked us to focus on are also
reflected in our strategy for 2016-20.

Strategic goals
What we will achieve

Pillars
How we will achieve it

Strategic intentions 2016-2020
The shift we will make

People have trust and confidence
in our work

One EPA
many experts, one authoritative
voice, supported by evidence
and science

Increase the trust of the nation, Māori,
and business through decision making
based on science, evidence, mātauranga
Māori, and risk assessment

Delivery of the right decisions,
cost effectively

Customer centric
approaching our work from
the start to the finish with the
customer front of mind

Improve operational performance,
including through enhanced EPA systems,
and customer experiences

Protection of people and the
environment in partnership
with businesses, Māori, and the
community

Partnership plus
working collaboratively
for success

Contribute effectively to the
Government’s environmental, wellbeing,
and economic outcomes and results

A confident EPA with highly
capable and engaged people
working collaboratively for
optimum results

People potential
harnessing our people and their
potential for success

Build depth and breadth of leadership
and technical expertise to ensure we have
the capability and capacity to respond to
stakeholder and customer demand

The following section shows how we have delivered against our four strategic intentions during 2016/17.
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Strategic intentions
1. Increase the trust of the nation, Māori,
and business through decision making based
on science, evidence, mātauranga Māori,
and risk assessment
1.1 Scope
This strategic intention is about achieving results for
New Zealanders, now and in the future, and acting
openly and transparently. It requires us to communicate
our work clearly – especially our science work relating
to new organisms – and to explain how, and why, we
have made decisions.
To progress this strategic intention during 2016/17 we
focused on the following areas.

1.2 Communicating science
We want our decisions to be based on objective
evidence, mātauranga Māori, and sound science,
and for our stakeholders to understand this. To
foster widespread understanding we seek to provide
authoritative commentary on scientific issues
relevant to our work, and to act as a visible advocate
for science, in terms of the environment.
Enhancing the EPA’s science capability is central to this.
A key achievement during 2016/17 was the creation of
the role of Chief Scientist. Dr Jacqueline Rowarth took
up the role in October 2016, with a brief to work with
experts across the natural resources sector and beyond.
The aim is to explain how we use science, evidence,
mātauranga Māori, and risk assessment in our
decision making.
Dr Rowarth has participated in various scientific
conferences and events, written articles on aspects
of science relating to the EPA, and is a frequent
commentator on radio and television. She has focused
on issues related to the environment, economics,
education, evidence-based policies, and the role of the
EPA, all with a view to building trust and understanding
among key stakeholders and the wider public.
Dr Rowarth led a discussion on the role of the EPA
in evidence-based policy making at the Strategic
Link Agribusiness event in Auckland in November
2016. She was also a panellist at a NZ Society of Soil
Sciences event in Queenstown in December 2016,
which considered the challenges of soil management,
particularly achieving a balance between economic
productivity and environmental aspirations.
To further mutual understanding we are developing and
deepening working relationships with Crown Research
Institutes, industry organisations, other research
1. B3 researches ways to reduce the entry and establishment of new plant
pests and diseases in New Zealand.

22 | STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

institutes, and universities, both here and overseas. We
participate in government science networks, especially
in the Natural Resource Sector, and work strategically
with Science NZ, the organisation that brings together
the Crown Research Institutes.
Through these science networks we articulate scientific
theory in a way that will build trust. The Chief Scientist
has participated in a number of networks involving
EPA’s stakeholders, and is a member of the Better
Border Security (B3)1 multi-partner co-operative science
collaboration, and the Sustainable Seas National
Science Stakeholder Group.
In June 2017 the EPA appointed a researcher to support
the Chief Scientist. This will increase our capacity to
undertake research and evaluation projects involving
hazardous substances, new organisms, climate change,
and New Zealand’s exclusive economic zone.
In response to public concerns about the EPA’s approval
of insecticides, such as neonicotinoids, that can affect
bees, the EPA is taking a lead in developing a pollinator
strategy. This will involve mounting a public education
programme about opportunities for New Zealand
communities to support pollinators and pollination.
The EPA has involved a range of stakeholders,
and is working to strengthen its ties with the wider
bee industry.
We are working with Apiculture New Zealand to
identify collaborative initiatives of mutual benefit. We
hope to apply the framework being developed for other
public education programmes.
Domestically, we participate in a range of events
to support building understanding and stakeholder
relationships. Examples during 2016/17 included:
• facilitating a workshop with the Funeral Directors
Association NZ, resulting in agreement to develop
joint technical guidance for burials at sea
• presenting on Recognising Mana Motuhake at the
EPA and Effective Tangata Whenua Engagement
for Hazardous Substance Applications at the He
Manawa Whenua Indigenous Research Conference
in Hamilton
• the NZBIO2 New Zealand Agritech symposium
in Otago.
The EPA also took part in National Science Challenges.
We contributed to the Sustainable Seas challenge,
receiving government funding to develop a cumulative
effects assessment framework over the next two years.
We attended the Crazy and Ambitious meeting at
Te Papa as part of New Zealand’s Biological
Heritage challenge.

2. NZBIO is a member-based organisation focused on growing
New Zealand’s prosperous economy.

The EPA has also worked collaboratively with partner
agencies to achieve joint objectives, and to increase
mutual understanding. Recent examples include:
• scoping research projects as part of Landcare
Research’s co-innovation workshops on biodiversity
and biosecurity, and land, climate and water
• contributing to the NZ Microbiological Society
meeting in Christchurch, held jointly with the NZ
Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Society
• serving on the Officials’ Working Group developing
the Government’s Conservation and Environment
Science Roadmap, which is being led by the
Ministry for the Environment and Department
of Conservation
• attending a Landcare Research workshop on brown
cattle tick vaccine development, together with
representatives from the United States Department
of Agriculture, AgResearch, Ministry for Primary
Industries, Massey University, and New Zealand
industry (Fonterra, Dairy NZ, Beef and Lamb).
Our staff are recognised in New Zealand and globally
for their expertise, and are asked to speak at a range
of conferences and events. We keep abreast of new
scientific findings, and engage with key stakeholders
at international conferences and forums. This activity
helps to highlight our work, and to profile the factors
we take into account in our decision making.
As a national environmental regulator, the EPA’s work
is of interest to overseas agencies, and we can learn
from the experience of other jurisdictions. High-level
interactions with international colleagues is one way
of ensuring our decisions are informed by the best
available evidence and science.
During 2016/17 we participated in a varied range of
international events, including:
• The International Union for Conservation of Nature
and Natural Resources Congress 2016 in Hawaii,
which included leaders from over 170 countries
from government, public sector, non-government
organisations, businesses, UN agencies and
indigenous and grass-roots organisations. The
key theme was exploring the role of indigenous
knowledge systems in environmental management,
and how this knowledge can be incorporated
alongside science for robust decision making. At the
Biocides Asia 2016 conference in Hong Kong, we
presented a summary of New Zealand’s hazardous
substances regulatory environment.
• At a conference in Mexico we supported the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs and Trade regarding the science
of molecular biotechnology and risk assessment in
New Zealand legislation. New Zealand is a signatory

to the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety, and EPA’s
participation is critical for ensuring New Zealand’s
interests are met.
• At the Agricultural BioScience International
Conference in Fargo, USA, we were invited to
take part in the Food Standards Australia and
New Zealand (FSANZ) expert group for new breeding
technologies, and to lead an international workshop
on risk assessment for the world organisation for
animal health in Thailand. The Agricultural BioScience
International Conference is the premier global
meeting promoting innovation in bioscience to ensure
sustainable food, feed, fibre and fuel security.
• At the Society of Environmental Toxicology and
Chemistry (SETAC) Asia-Pacific 2016 Conference
in Singapore, we presented on Effective Tāngata
Whenua / Indigenous Engagement for Hazardous
Substance Applications. The presentation was part of
the Indigenous Knowledge and Values in SETAC and
Environmental Science conference theme.

1.3 Building partnerships and trust with Māori
In pursuit of this goal, we have begun discussing how
we can weave Māori perspectives and mātauranga
Māori (the Māori knowledge system) together with
conventional science, to provide a complementary
evidence base for EPA decision making. We also
recognise that it is important that we conduct our
business in a manner that is consistent with the
principles of the Treaty of Waitangi if Māori are to have
trust and confidence in our work.
During 2016/17 the EPA undertook the following
projects aimed at ensuring our processes are better
informed by Māori perspectives:
• we developed a Māori Engagement Toolbox to enable
customers, stakeholders and EPA staff to gain a
better understanding of Māori engagement
• we developed a Cultural Risk Assessment Tool and
resources to assist EPA staff and decision makers to
assess potential risks and impacts on Māori interests
• Mātauranga Māori Project – we are working with
Kāhui Kaumātua to develop tools and resources for
integrating Māori knowledge and world views into
EPA decision making.
To increase the trust of Māori through decision making
based on evidence, mātauranga Māori, and science,
we incorporated tikanga Māori into EPA business
and decision-making processes. This included using
pōwhiri, mihi whakatau, karakia and waiata to open and
close hearings for Nationally Significant Proposals, EEZ
and HSNO applications, and our territorial authority
hazardous substance compliance workshops.
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Over 2016/17, we have focused on building staff
capability around Māori values and world views,
through ongoing implementation of our He Whetū
Mārama programme. This is discussed in our report on
progress towards achieving Strategic Intention 4.
During the year, we initiated a research project to
ascertain whether our risk assessment process for
hazardous substances is appropriate for New Zealand
native species. This will explore the relevance of test
data for surrogate species, and the extent to which
these can be used to infer risk to New Zealand native
species. The project is essential to ensure that the EPA,
agrichemical manufacturers and users, and Māori, can
have confidence in the methodology we use to assess
risk to native species.

1.4 Communicating about our decision making
We have committed to the following effectiveness
measure: That applicants and submitters agree that
information on the main factors taken into account in
EPA decisions, and how these influenced the decisions,
is clear to understand and easy to access.
In our new organisms work, we paid particular attention
to communicating how and why we made decisions, in
order to foster public understanding, as requested by
the Minister. In particular, we have visited stakeholders
to help them better understand the application process
for work regulated by the Hazardous Substances and
New Organisms Act. Staff visited Scion and Landcare
Research in Christchurch, to discuss their respective
applications regarding biocontrol agents. We also met
with Landcare Research about its proposal to develop
a brown cattle tick vaccine. Similarly, we met with
AgResearch in Palmerston North, to discuss its proposal
to import new species of grass.
Our new organisms team also participated in various
domestic workshops, including meetings with the
Better Border Biosecurity (B3) co-operative. We
attended a workshop to develop a project proposal
for the National Science: Biological Heritage, on the
genetic characterisation of New Zealand’s biota.
We took part in the National Science Challenge: Our
Biological Heritage virtual eDNA hub planning day,
as well as the Ministry for Primary Industries’ Primary
Sector Science Direction workshop. We also attended
the Queenstown Research Week conference in Nelson,
where we presented information about the process
used for the EPA’s approval to import, for release,
a vaccinia virus (Pexa-Vec) genetically modified to
selectively destroy cancer cells, at the Cancer Biology
satellite meeting.

2. Improving operational performance,
including through enhanced EPA systems
and customer experiences
2.1 Scope
This strategic intention is about achieving performance
improvement. It also reflects the Minister for the
Environment’s request that we give particular attention
to finding efficiencies within our processes and
operations; that we deliver our services to make a
difference for the customer; and that we continue
meeting the needs of participants in the ETS, and
manage the NZEUR (now known as the New Zealand
Emissions Trading Register) to meet New Zealand’s
international commitments.
To progress this strategic intention during 2016/17 we
focused on the following areas:

2.2 Establishing the project management office
The EPA’s project management office has been
established to define and maintain standards
for programme and project management across
the organisation.
The initial focus has been on providing leadership and
direction. This has included programme development
and operational management, for the four-year
programme of work, and providing strategic advice to
support the EPA Investment Committee. The project
management team has redesigned the EPA’s Investment
Delivery Framework to better match the scale and
requirements of our business. The project management
office will also focus on upskilling and enabling EPA
staff to use project management methodology, so
they can carry out their work more methodically
and efficiently.

2.3 Enhancing systems functionality
During 2016/17 we worked to ensure that the EPA’s
technology and systems are flexible, integrated, secure,
and sufficient to meet current users’ needs, now and in
the future.

Developing our IT strategy
We are establishing a baseline of the EPA’s current IT
capabilities, as a precursor to developing a vision for
our future IT environment and technology infrastructure
over the next three years. This IT strategic review
will continue into 2017/18. We are already using new
technologies, new systems, and system enhancements,
to improve our services to internal and external
customers. For example, we have implemented:
• a new financial management information system with
enhanced functionality
• an online submission capability, making it easier for
applicants and submitters to interact with us.
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Focusing on our customers
We are working to identify our customers’ needs
and how best to meet them. The initial focus is on
identifying key customer groups, based on factors
such as influence, risk and their potential to contribute
to our strategic goals. We are designing a customer
segmentation model and implementing a complaints/
feedback system, to enable visible reporting, and
shared learning, across the organisation.
To test an approach to understanding customer needs,
our customer centricity team participated in the EPA's
territorial authorities roadshow which provided insights
into a range of issues affecting our relationship with this
key customer.
We will continue to improve our customer feedback
processes, and to develop strategies for enhancing how
we service all customer segments.

Redeveloping our website
A project is underway to redevelop the EPA’s website,
as our current site no longer meets customers’
requirements. It is little changed from when it was built
seven years ago. To meet customer needs, our website
must be easy and intuitive to use, enable users to
find information promptly, and allow them to undertake
common business transactions online, speedily
and effectively.
We did a preliminary investigation of customer
requirements, and used this to underpin a business
case for change, which was approved by the EPA
Board in July 2017. The first stage will be to build a
better website with intuitive navigation, a better search
function, improved content, and easy readability across
a range of desktop and mobile devices. Subsequently,
defined functions will be added based on researched
customer needs. We expect the new website to be
in place by late 2017. These developments will bring
benefits for all the EPA’s customers, be they applicants,
submitters, business partners, journalists or members
of the public seeking information.

Implementing an online submission capability
Making submissions to the EPA is an essential part of
many of our business processes. We want to make the
submission process as fast and effective as possible.
Following a successful trial, we implemented Datacom’s
Customer Experience Platform (CEP) tool across the
organisation. CEP is an online submission tool which
allows the public to lodge electronic submissions
on various publicly-notified processes that we run,
including resource consent applications for proposals
of national significance, and applications under the
Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf
(Environmental Effects) Act 2012.

Replacing our financial management information
system
The EPA’s financial management information system
(FMIS) lacked the full functionality we require, but
remedying its shortcomings was not a cost-effective
proposition. After business requirements were
reassessed, we initiated an FMIS replacement project
in February 2017. We evaluated various options that
had software-as-a-service capability, and chose the
Oracle Financial Cloud System. It has been successfully
implemented, going live on 1 July 2017. The EPA will
benefit significantly from the system’s additional
functionality, increased automation, enhanced
processes, and better reporting capabilities.

New Zealand Emissions Trading Register
Some 2,500 businesses, with activities ranging from
coal mining to tomato growing, interact with the
Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) each year. In August
2016, we successfully implemented a new Emissions
Trading Register. This was the culmination of a threeyear project. The new register replaces static forms
with online functionality, helps individuals to manage
their own activities, improves security and flexibility,
and allows for further changes and improvements.
The register is critical to our effective administration of
the ETS. In 2016/17 there were over 3,200 transactions,
averaging 250 a month. These involved more than 70
million units being transferred between accounts,
excluding transactions involving the Crown.
The units held in the register itself are worth more
than $2.5 billion.
Implementing the new register has brought increased
focus on data integrity and user management. Having
high-quality data ensures that participants and account
holders can be contacted appropriately, are aware of
changes as they relate to the ETS or the carbon market,
and are able to undertake legitimate transactions.
During 2016/17 our customers used the system for
the first time to meet their annual obligations, as well
as the normal trading of units during the year. Having
completed the first annual compliance reporting period,
we have been pleased to see users carrying out tasks
in the system with minimal assistance from EPA staff.
Feedback overall has reflected a mostly positive
user experience.
Future developments in the register will make it even
easier for customers to use our online services. Our aim
is to reduce compliance costs and increase users’ trust
and confidence in the ETS, and ultimately the EPA.
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2.4 Cost recovery and process efficiency
reviews

To progress this strategic intention during 2016/17 we
focused on the following areas:

This work included process mapping of our major
business processes such as applications, and reengineering of processes or projects identified
as a result of this work. It also included reviewing
and amending our cost recovery approach, where
necessary.

3.2 Modernising hazardous substances
programme

Cost recovery review
We progressed work reviewing our third-party fees for
applications and other functions under the Hazardous
Substances and New Organisms Act, the Exclusive
Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental
Effects) Act, and the Resource Management Act.
The review is being undertaken as part of a wider
financial review, to ensure the EPA’s long-term financial
sustainability.
The Ministry for the Environment, the Treasury, and
industry stakeholders have been assisting this work.
The review work will be progressed during 2017/18.

Hazardous substances applications process
improvements
During the year we worked to improve the efficiency
and effectiveness of our hazardous substances
applications processing. The aim is to provide
customers with an effective service, leading to
enhanced levels of satisfaction with, and confidence
in, their interactions with us. We focused particularly
on enhancing timeliness, improving quality, and
implementing processes for continuous improvement.
We have developed key performance measures to
record our progress.

3.0 Contributing effectively to the
Government’s environmental, wellbeing,
and economic outcomes and results
3.1 Scope
This strategic intention is about focusing on achieving
results for New Zealanders, now and in the future.
It addresses the expectation that we will work with
other agencies, and also reflects the Minister for the
Environment’s request that we give particular
attention to:
• achieving a well-functioning environmental
management system
• progressing work to support the Government’s health
and safety reforms, in particular by issuing EPA
Notices, and providing visible leadership of our new
enforcement functions under the HSNO Act
• preparing for any changes to monitoring and
enforcing EEZ activities relevant to the new
Kermadec Ocean Sanctuary and associated
legislation.
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Our work in this area includes preparation of EPA
Notices, developing registers for importers and
producers of hazardous substances, and implementing
a compliance and enforcement programme.
Modernising our approach to chemical management
will enable the EPA to reduce harm to people and the
environment. This is in keeping with our vision, and our
commitment to being a proactive regulator working for
the public good.
During 2016/17, we began work on a three-to-five year
programme to modernise how we manage hazardous
substances, using improved quality systems, processes,
and tools. The aim is to ensure the EPA takes a
system-wide view of hazardous substances across
New Zealand. This work is grounded in our operational
and technical expertise, and is science-led.
Work will continue on this programme in 2017/18
and beyond, and will include developing a proactive
strategy to reduce the harm to human health, and
the environment, caused by hazardous substances.
A programme business case will be developed in
2017/18, regarding delivery of the hazardous substances
modernisation programme.
Where new information becomes available, the
Hazardous Substance and New Organisms Act permits
the EPA to reassess previous approvals for import
and manufacture of hazardous substances. During
2016/17, we established a full-time reassessment team
to progress this work. A framework for prioritising
substances for reassessment is being developed,
allowing us to focus investment on areas that will bring
greatest benefit to New Zealand.
We have researched and trialled approaches used by
Australia, Canada, and the European Union to prioritise
chemicals for review, and to identify aspects we can
apply or adapt to our needs.
The first reassessment under the new framework will be
of paraquat-containing herbicides. Paraquat has been
identified as a high priority candidate for reassessment
on the basis of potential significant human health and
environmental exposure risks. We are already seeking
information from industry and users, and consultation
with Māori is underway. The application is expected to
be lodged in early 2018, and submissions will be sought.
We plan to engage with WorkSafe, the Ministry for
Primary Industries and international regulators on our
reassessment work, so we can build off the work they
have already done.

The Hazardous Substances Compliance team
commenced a four-year work programme in October
2016, focused on improving the regulation of hazardous
substances. We are focusing on five key areas:
• building Hazardous Substances Enforcement Officer
capability and capacity
• identifying our information needs and developing our
intelligence capability
• engaging more effectively with the section 97
enforcement agencies
• engaging our regulated community, primarily
importers and manufacturers of hazardous
substances
• carrying out monitoring and assessment activities
for products containing hazardous substances,
particularly in the home user consumer area.
Since October 2016, five staff have completed the
Hazardous Substances Enforcement Officer warranting
programme, and a sixth is currently enrolled.

3.3. Staying safe at home
This campaign aims to reduce the harm caused to
consumers from hazardous substances, with particular
focus on reducing harm to young children.
The EPA held a successful Safer Homes week initiative
in late May 2017, as part of its wider public information
education campaign to promote safe management of
hazardous substances around the home. The initiative
included online and media activity, and culminated
in a two-day showcase event in central Wellington.
More than 1,000 people attended on the Saturday,
and the event generated favourable media coverage.
We targeted media, the general public, and specific
community groups (children and vulnerable adults,
Māori and Pasifika).
We partnered with Wellington City Council to coorganise the event. Central and local government, and
relevant not-for-profit organisations – such as the NZ
Fire Service, Plunket, ACC, Housing NZ, the National
Poisons Centre, Safe Kids Aotearoa and the Earthquake
Commission – also took part.
In August 2016 we launched an EPA Safer Homes
Facebook page, @EPAsaferhomes, which a year later
had attracted 93,000 views. The page focuses on
the safe use of chemical products commonly found
in the home, such as household cleaners, detergents,
toiletries, cosmetics, fuels and garden products. It
provides regular, topical information and updates on
safe use and storage.
We have focused on how to communicate key health
and safety messages about hazardous substances to
whanau and marae. This included promoting the Safer
Homes campaign message on iwi radio stations.

3.4 Proactive involvement in key government
environmental regulatory initiatives
Working safer reforms
A key focus during 2016/17 was providing support for
the Government’s Working Safer reforms. The EPA
has worked closely with the Ministry of Business,
Innovation and Employment (MBIE) and WorkSafe
New Zealand to implement the reforms. In parallel
with the MBIE process for developing the Health and
Safety at Work (Hazardous Substances) Regulations,
the EPA developed nine Notices for public consultation
and release. These have all been approved by the
EPA Board. To ensure people are familiar with the
requirements, the Notices have been published on
the EPA website. All the Notices will be gazetted, and
will come into force at the same time as the WorkSafe
regulations, on 1 December 2017.
The EPA Notices consolidate and update provisions
currently found in regulations, group standards,
approvals and transfer notices to manage the risks of
hazardous substances. The Notices ensure all of the
risks continue to be managed under the new regime.
This has been a significant area of work for the EPA, as
it is the first time we have developed Notices.
A Memorandum of Understanding between EPA and
WorkSafe New Zealand was signed in August 2017.
EPA proposes to publish updated group standards on
1 December 2017, to reflect the new regulations and
Notices. We are also developing guidance material
to explain certain aspects of the EPA Notices to
manufacturers, and suppliers of hazardous substances,
to help them comply.
The EPA was also involved in a number of other key
government environmental regulatory initiatives during
2016/17 including:

Kermadec Ocean Sanctuary Bill
We have worked with the Ministry for the Environment
incase functions set out in the Bill become the EPA’s
responsibility. An example is responsibility for
monitoring marine scientific research conducted in the
Kermadec Ocean Sanctuary.

EEZ monitoring and enforcement
The EPA has conducted a wide range of activities
related to New Zealand’s exclusive economic zone.
• We participated in the Department of Conservationled revision of the code of conduct for minimising
acoustic disturbance to marine mammals from
seismic survey operations. We also supported and
advised the Ministry for the Environment on technical
and compliance issues.
• In May 2017 the EPA held a workshop with operators
and other agencies about our approval process for
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emergency spill response plans. These are required
as part of new dumping and discharge functions for
harmful substances.
• The EPA initiated, and co-chaired with the
Petroleum Explorers and Producers Association of
New Zealand, a regular forum to bring oil and gas
operators together with local and central government
regulators. The aim is to consider issues and
practices that will better achieve good regulatory
outcomes. The formation of this group responds to
feedback from our EEZ stakeholder
perceptions survey.
• We partnered with the Ministry of Business,
Innovation and Employment to host a three-day
training workshop for Government agencies and
industry on decommissioning oil and gas facilities.
Agencies that attended included the Ministry for the
Environment, WorkSafe New Zealand, the Ministry
of Transport, and Maritime New Zealand. Two
Australian agencies also participated.
• The EPA posted guidance on its website to ensure
operators of space vehicles understand their
obligations prior to any launch. In May 2017, Rocket
Lab launched its first space vehicle from the Mahia
Peninsula. The EPA monitored the process for
depositing related space vehicle debris into the
Exclusive Economic Zone, with the final monitoring
report expected by August 2017. We identified
opportunities for amendment, and these will be
considered as part of any future regulatory review.

The Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2017
We have worked with the Ministry for the Environment
on various issues arising from this Act, such as
Exclusive Economic Zone marine consent applications
now being considered by a Board of Inquiry rather
than a decision-making committee established by
the EPA. Another example is the Act’s requirement
that offshore oil and gas operators have an accepted
decommissioning plan. The EPA continues to
participate in the decommissioning working group led
by the Ministry for the Environment, and is also involved
in the Inter-Agency Officials’ Governance Group on
Decommissioning, led by the Ministry of Business,
Innovation and Employment.
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4. Building depth and breadth of leadership
and technical expertise to ensure we have
the capability and capacity to respond to
stakeholder and customer demand
4.1 Scope
This strategic intention also focuses on our work on
achieving results for New Zealanders, now and in the
future, and achieving performance improvement.
It encompasses achieving a well-functioning
environmental management system; communicating
our work clearly, especially our science work related
to new organisms, and how and why we have
made decisions, to assist public information and
understanding; and delivering our services to make a
difference for the customer.
As outlined in the Statement of Performance
Expectations, to progress this strategic intention
during 2016/17 we focused on implementing our people
strategy.

4.2 Implementing EPA’s people strategy
During 2016/17 we focused on building leadership and
technical expertise across the organisation. The EPA
needs leaders who can marry technical and scientific
expertise with the ability to influence others, to
communicate clearly, to understand group dynamics,
and to operate successfully in accord with
mātaurangi Māori.
We have developed an EPA leadership profile, to ensure
leaders are clear about what we expect of them. This
prioritises the qualities of integrity, curiosity, emotional
intelligence, resilience, and courage. To help our
leaders to succeed, we have assessed their strengths,
and areas where development is needed. Each has an
individual development plan and receives one-to-one
coaching on their development objectives.
We have commenced scoping work on collective or
team-based leadership development initiatives with
implementation expected to begin in September 2017.

1,000+
people attended our
Safer Homes expo

Eligible EPA staff can participate in the Natural
Resource Sector’s 2017 leadership development
programmes, and also similar offerings by the state
sector’s Leadership Development Centre.
Developing the skills of all staff is important to ensure
we have high-functioning, capable people right across
the organisation. We have run talent and development
sessions to identify individuals’ potential, strengths, and
areas for development. This enables us to assess what
form of development will most assist to build additional
competence or provide additional experience.

We are particularly focused on ensuring we have
sufficient staff capability to progress our priority areas
of: leadership, Māori capability, customer centricity
and partnership engagement, regulatory expertise,
and strategic agility. We will implement development
initiatives to strengthen these areas.
We have focused on building staff capability regarding
Māori values and worldviews, through ongoing
implementation of the ‘He Whetū Mārama’ programme.
We also held Understanding Matariki seminars, and
Māori welcome ceremonies for new employees.
More than half of the EPA’s staff have attended
Te Reo Māori classes.

STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK | 29

Statement of
performance

03
30 | STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE

Introduction
The EPA’s work under these appropriations contributes
to our strategic goals of:

The EPA is funded through a mix of Crown
funding and third-party revenue. Crown funding
is provided through the three appropriations
in Vote Environment: EPA decision-making functions;
EPA monitoring and enforcement functions;
and Emissions Trading Scheme.

• People have trust and confidence in our work
• Delivery of the right decisions, cost effectively
• Protection of people and the environment in
partnership with businesses, Māori, and
the community.
This section describes our performance against the
measures and targets set out in our Statement of
Performance Expectations 2016/17 regarding these
three appropriations.

Costs and revenue by appropriation for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual 2017
$000
Cost

Actual 2017
$000
Revenue

Budget 2017
$000
Cost

Budget 2017
$000
Revenue

Actual 2016
$000
Cost

Actual 2016
$000
Revenue

EPA decision-making functions

16,139

17,503

17,489

17,489

16,519

16,306

EPA monitoring and
enforcement functions

7,903

6,334

6,407

6,407

4,897

5,812

Emissions Trading Scheme

5,831

6,435

6,422

6,422

7,023

7,110

29,873

30,272

30,318

30,318

28,439

29,228

TOTAL EXPENDITURE/REVENUE
SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT)

399

Appropriations
1. Appropriation EPA: Decision-making
functions
1.1 Scope
Our work under this appropriation is intended to
achieve the objectives of environmental legislation we
administer. We strive to make decisions that:
• prevent and/or manage the adverse effects of
hazardous substances or new organisms
• fulfil New Zealand’s international obligations
regarding the import, export and use of ozonedepleting substances, and the trans-boundary
movement of hazardous waste of
international concern
• facilitate sustainable management of natural and
physical resources, with respect to projects of
national significance
• facilitate sustainable management of natural
resources in New Zealand’s exclusive economic zone
and continental shelf.

-

789

1.2 Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and hazardous
waste decision making
The EPA assesses and makes decisions about
applications regarding hazardous substances and new
organisms under the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act.
In 2016/17 we:
• decided 178 hazardous substance applications, and
nine applications relating to use of substances where
controls required additional permission
• decided 252 applications for import certificates and
waivers for explosives in accordance with Part 6 of
the Act
• reassessed two hazardous substances
• decided 25 new organism applications and statutory
determinations
• approved the import of jumping spiders into
containment, for studies on their behavioural ecology
and neurophysiology of vision
• approved two new biological control agents
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• approved the import and release of a live virus
vaccine for commercial poultry flocks
• approved an application to develop geneticallymodified Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells, as a
potential therapy for various blood cancers
• provided 10 instances of non-statutory advice on the
status of organisms in New Zealand
• answered more than 295 enquiries about new
organisms, from researchers, industry, media, other
government departments, and the general public.
The EPA issues import or export permits for hazardous
waste under the Imports and Exports (Restrictions)
Act 1988, and the Imports and Exports (Restrictions)
Prohibition Order (No 2). In 2016/17 we:
• issued 87 permits related to the import or export
of chemicals and wastes covered by international
conventions
• issued import or export permits for ozone-depleting
substances under the Ozone Layer Protection Act
• issued 45 import or export permits for ozonedepleting substances.

1.3 Resource management decision making
Under the Resource Management Act (RMA), the EPA
manages the process for resource consent applications
deemed to be of national significance which are heard
and decided by independent Boards of Inquiries or
Special Tribunals. Our role is to provide advice on
projects of national significance to the Minister for the
Environment (and sometimes Conservation), and to
administer the hearing process should the Minister(s)
decide a proposal should be referred to a Board of
Inquiry. The EPA is also responsible for providing the
secretarial and support services for other national level
decision-making processes under the RMA, such as
amendments to plans and national policy statements
and applications for Water Conservation Orders or
Heritage Orders.
In 2016/17 we received two nationally significant
proposal applications. These have proceeded through
public hearings, and are both now at the deliberation
stage. We are also providing pre-application advice on a
third nationally significant proposal. All three proposals
were made by the NZ Transport Agency.
The active proposals comprise: Northern Corridor
improvements, which is an extension to the existing
North Shore busway in Auckland; and the East West
Link, which is a proposed new road running across the
top of Mangere Inlet from Onehunga to Sylvia Park,
connecting SH20 and SH1. In both cases, the Minister
for the Environment (in conjunction with the Minister
of Conservation for East West Link) agreed that the
proposals were nationally significant, and referred the
matters to Boards of Inquiry for hearing and decision.
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The proposal currently at pre-application advice stage
is the Ara Tūhono - Pūhoi to Wellsford Road of National
Significance: Warkworth to Wellsford Section, and we
anticipate receiving this in the 2017/18 financial year.

1.4 Exclusive Economic Zone decision making
Under the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act (EEZ Act), the EPA
assesses and makes decisions about applications for
marine consents and rulings. This includes decision
making on dumping and discharge activities subject to
marine consent.
In 2016/17 we delivered:
• four decisions to approve non-notified dumping
consents associated with marine scientific research
• four decisions to approve non-notified marine
discharge consents
• two notified marine consent applications (in progress)
• at year end, work was ongoing regarding two notified
marine consent applications
• two decisions on requests for rulings for activities
relating to existing structures
• a decision to approve a change of condition for a
marine dumping consent that had originally been
approved by Maritime New Zealand
• two updates to Emergency Spill Response Plans.
In addition:
• we have updated the EEZ section of our website to
include the Discharge and Dumping Regulations, and
to provide greater guidance for submitters and other
stakeholders
• we advised the Ministry for the Environment on the
Resource Legislation Amendment Bill, the Kermadec
Sanctuary Bill, and decommissioning proposals
• we maintained close working relationships with
industry and applicants, including marine science
applicants, GNS Science, and the National Institute
of Water and Atmospheric Research (NIWA)
• marine consent applications from Trans-Tasman
Resources Ltd (TTRL) were lodged with EPA
in August 2016. The significant interest in this
application resulted in a record 13,733 submissions.
Evidence and submissions were heard by a decisionmaking committee over 22 hearing days in both
Wellington and New Plymouth. The EPA publicly
released the decision to grant, subject to conditions,
the TTRL consent applications on 10 August 2017.

1.5 WorkSafe New Zealand
In anticipation of provisions under the Health and
Safety at Work Act and amendments to the HSNO
Act coming into effect, the EPA has delegated a range
of workplace-related hazardous substance functions
to WorkSafe, including seconding staff. This includes
applications for test certifiers, periodic testers,
licences, and Part 6 approvals.
In addition to processing these HSNO approvals, a
major focus for WorkSafe has been to review and
update operational procedures to ensure a seamless
transition for PCBUs (persons conducting a business or
undertaking), including compliance certifiers, requiring
an authorisation under the new Health and Safety at
Work (Hazardous Substances) Regulations 2017. These
regulations come into force on 1 December 2017.

WorkSafe provided information and guidance to users
of hazardous substances through:
• the Hazardous Substances Information Line, which
responded to over 3,000 phone and email enquiries
• publishing guidance on the storage of
flammable liquids
• maintaining the web-based Hazardous Substances
Calculator, which provides compliance information
based on a user’s inventory of hazardous substances
• undertaking stakeholder engagement throughout
the year.
WorkSafe also undertook the following activities in
preparation for implementation of the new Health and
Safety at Work (Hazardous Substances) Regulations:

All workplace-related hazardous substance functions
delegated to WorkSafe have been operating in
accordance with the terms of the delegation. During the
year, WorkSafe made:

• providing MBIE with advice on the draft regulations,
including those parts relating to compliance certifiers
and other hazardous substance approvals relevant to
the delegation

• 87 decisions on applications to become a test
certifier or periodic tester, including renewals and
extension of current approvals

• reviewing and prioritising HSNO-approved Codes
of Practice (relevant to workplaces) for updating to
either a Safe Work Instrument (SWI) or technical
guidance. Work commenced to develop 13 SWI,
which were released for consultation in early 2017/18

• 914 decisions on applications for a controlled
substances licence
• 150 decisions on applications for a Part 6 approval
(including compliance plans and waivers).
WorkSafe monitored and supported the independent
test certification regime by:
• undertaking audits of eight test certifiers issuing
location test certificates and 13 audits of test
certifiers issuing approved handler test certificates
• holding three workshops on the Health and Safety at
Work Act (Hazardous Substances) Regulations
• supporting the set-up of Hazardous Substance
Professionals NZ, a new professional body for
test certifiers

• developing policies, systems and processes
for compliance certifier approvals and other
authorisations under the new regulations
• implementing a programme of revision of all EPA
guidance related to workplaces and the
new regulations
• progressing the development of test certifier
performance standards and a mandatory
auditing framework
• scoping the requirements for a new test certifier
and test certificate register.

• providing information and guidance to test certifiers
on technical matters
• publishing five editions of the Test Certifier
Update newsletter.
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1.6 Performance measures
Goal: People have trust and confidence in our work
Strategic Intention: To increase the trust of the nation, Māori, and business through decision making based on
science, evidence, mātauranga Māori, and risk assessment
Measure

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

New Zealanders trust the impartiality and transparency of the EPA’s activities
Applicants and submitters
(HSNO/RMA/EEZ), and Ngā
Kaihautū, Te Herenga, Iwi,
and Māori, have trust and
confidence in the EPA

By 30 June 2017,
70%

HSNO and EEZ decisionmaking processes are robust
and objective

100% of a sample
of decisions meet
agreed criteria

Applicants and submitters
agree that information on
the main factors taken into
account in EPA decisions
made (HSNO/RMA/EEZ),
and how these influenced
the decisions, is clear to
understand and easy to
access

By 30 June 2017,
80%

Not Achieved3

New

100% of sample decisions
met agreed criteria

Achieved

New

Applicants: 60% agreed
that informed about and
easy to understand;
Submitters: 51% agreed
understood factors taken
into account on decision
and easy to access

Not Achieved4

New

Applicants and Submitters
agreed: 56%
Māori
agreed: 47%

Goal: Delivery of the right decisions cost effectively
Strategic Intention: Improve operational performance, including through enhanced EPA systems, and customer
experiences

Measure

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

Customers are satisfied with the overall level of service provided by the EPA
Applicants and submitters
(HSNO/RMA/EEZ) agree
that the advice, information
and support provided to
assist their participation
in the application process
meets or exceeds their
expectations

By 30 June 2017,
80%

Applicants: 57% agreed
(averaged)
Submitters: 63% agreed
(averaged)

Not Achieved5

67%6

Users agree that the overall
quality of ETS service
delivery meets or exceeds
their expectations

By 30 June 2017,
80%

67%7 agreed

Not Achieved8

66%

3. 31% of Māori respondents were neutral (neither agreed nor disagreed)

6. Averaged score from submitters

4. Applicants

were asked to rate if they felt informed about and
understood the main factors taken into account on their application.
Submitters were asked to rate access to information on the main
factors taken into account in decisions and whether the information
was clear and understandable.

7. 1 5% of users were neutral (neither agreed nor disagreed that the service
was good or very good).

5. 2 7% of submitters and 24% of applicants were neutral (neither agreed
nor disagreed). 75% of submitters and 61% of applicants agreed or
strongly agreed the process was clear and 71% of submitters and
63% of applicants agreed or strongly agreed that advice from EPA on
requirements was clear.
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8. Small increase but not statistically significant.

Goal: Protection of people and the environment in partnership with businesses, Māori, and the community
Strategic Intention: Contribute effectively to the Government’s environmental, wellbeing, and economic
outcomes and results

Measure

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

New organisms, bio-control agents or hazardous substances can be demonstrated to have contributed to a
reduction in pests and/or weeds, and have not become a pest or weed
No instances have been
reported of EPA-approved
new organisms having
become a pest, weed or
disease

Zero incidents
reported and trend
of no change

Zero incidents

Achieved

Zero incidents

New organisms, bio-control
or hazardous substances
significantly reduce pests
and/ or weeds

Demonstrated by
available monitoring
information

Weed and pest
control about 10% of
on-farm costs.
Specific initiatives to
reduce weed and pest
control noted

Achieved9

New

2. Appropriation EPA: Monitoring and
enforcement functions
2.1 Scope
Our work under this appropriation is intended to
achieve the objectives of environmental legislation we
administer, and to contribute to specific EPA goals,
as outlined above in Section 1.1 for the EPA decisionmaking functions appropriation.
Specifically, our activities under this appropriation
relate to monitoring and enforcing compliance:
• under the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
Act, the Ozone Layer Protection Act, the Imports
and Exports (Restrictions) Act and the Imports and
Exports (Restrictions) Prohibition Order (No 2),
jointly with other agencies, such as the New Zealand
Customs Service
• under the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf Act, with the requirements of regulations,
and any conditions of marine consents,
and maintaining the regulatory framework, and
regulatory stewardship.

2.2 Exclusive Economic Zone compliance
monitoring and enforcement
Under the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental
Shelf Act, in 2016/17 we monitored 17 marine consents,
20 permitted activities, and three operators of existing
structures. Our monitoring and inspections did not
identify any significant adverse events in the EEZ.
In keeping with our commitment to being a transparent
regulator, we published an EEZ monitoring policy.

We implemented and continued developing the EPA’s
EEZ compliance programme. This included our first
ever inspection of a seismic survey vessel at sea.
We conducted a health and safety risk assessment
of our EEZ inspection work, developing enhanced
practices to keep our staff safer when visiting
regulated facilities.
The EPA is developing an EEZ Compliance Engagement
Plan, customised as appropriate to particular
stakeholders. Improvements made to date include:
developing and publishing specific EEZ monitoring
policies; co-founding a regular forum of local and
central government regulators, and industry. A full
engagement plan will be delivered by 30 June 2018.

2.3 Hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone-depleting substances and hazardous
waste compliance monitoring and enforcement
During 2016/17, our monitoring and enforcement
activities under the Hazardous Substances and New
Organisms Act and the Ozone Layer Protection
Act included:
• coordinating and assisting with compliance with
hazardous substance approvals and monitoring;
assisting with compliance with new organism
approvals, including responding to enquiries and
information requests
• providing annual reports on topics such as: the
activities and intentions of section 97 enforcement
agencies; aerial use of 1080; use of methyl-bromide
in excess of 500kgs; new organism field trials; use of
aquatic herbicides.

9. The report Protecting our environment, protecting our people, monitoring the effectiveness of hazardous substances and new organisms controls notes
various achievements in reducing pests and weeds, including the use of aquatic herbicides to control aquatic pest plants, and biocontrol agents to
control weeds. In the agricultural and horticultural sectors about 10 per cent of farm working expenses relate to the use of hazardous substances to
reduce and control pests and weeds, which contributes to maintaining and increasing production levels.
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The EPA took on new responsibilities when regulations
relating to importation of asbestos-containing products
came into force on 1 October 2016. An import permit
must be obtained from the EPA before an asbestoscontaining product may be imported. Permits are
granted under section 5 of the Imports and Exports
(Asbestos-containing Products) Prohibition Order 2016.
The EPA has approved one application for the import
from Antarctica of soil and building samples that may
contain asbestos. The aim is to identify whether or not
the samples contain asbestos.
A key initiative in 2016/17 was development of a
four-year hazardous substances compliance work
programme. More detail is provided above in subsection 3.2 of the strategic framework section of
this report.

2.4 Maintaining the regulatory framework and
regulatory stewardship
This area of work covers:
• reviewing and maintaining EPA-administered
regulatory instruments, to ensure they are efficient
and up to date. Such instruments include: hazardous
substances core controls, the classification
of hazardous substances, EPA Notices, and
cost recovery
• facilitating Māori involvement in the EPA’s
regulatory activities
• supporting effective regulation, including access
to science, knowledge and information, public
information and education, and partnerships
• contributing to New Zealand’s involvement in
international agreements protocols relating to
regulatory areas the EPA is responsible for, including:
–– the Basel Convention and Waigani Convention
(covering hazardous waste)
–– the Cartagena Protocol (covering trade in living
modified organisms)
–– the London Convention (dumping at sea)
–– the Montreal Protocol (phasing-out of ozonedepleting substances)
–– the Rotterdam Convention (trans-boundary trade
in specified hazardous chemicals)
–– the Stockholm Convention (phasing out
persistent organic pollutants)
–– the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change.
Review, maintenance and development of regulatory
instruments: During 2016/17 we issued guidance to
regulated and interested parties on discharge and
dumping, safety data sheets, and emergency spill
response plans. We also used our experience in
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administering consent applications, and monitoring and
compliance, to help develop amendments to various
EEZ regulations, including dumping consents.
International agreements: The EPA contributes to
New Zealand’s involvement in international agreements
protocols relating to areas of regulation we are
responsible for implementing. During 2016/17, we
participated in the International Offshore Petroleum
Environmental Regulator forum, and presented the
results of a survey of compliance and enforcement
practices. We established working relationships
with seven other member states – United Kingdom,
Australia, USA, Brazil, Mexico, Norway and Canada.
The EPA was a member of New Zealand’s delegation
at the Conference of the Parties to the Convention
on Biological Diversity (CBD) in Mexico. The CBD is
dedicated to promoting sustainable development.
The development of guidance for the risk assessment
and risk management of Living Modified Organisms
was finalised at this meeting, with the EPA playing an
integral role in developing the consensus decision.
The Principal Scientist in EPA’s new organisms team
was appointed as the National Focal Point for the CBD
Biosafety Clearing House under the Cartagena Protocol
for Biosafety. His responsibilities include maintaining
New Zealand’s compliance under its Cartagena
obligations, particularly reporting new Living Modified
Organisms approvals for release, for direct use in
processing, or as food or feed, or as medicines.
The EPA contributed to wider Government
environmental stewardship through membership of the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade’s International
Oceans’ Working Group; the Government inter-agency
working groups on decommissioning; and a key
stakeholder group for the Sustainable Sea research
project funded by the Ministry of Business, Innovation
and Employment. We also provided input into
regulation of space debris.
Facilitating Māori involvement in regulatory activities:
The EPA has an ongoing relationship with the Ngāi Tahu
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Komiti. The
Komiti actively participates in EPA activities, and the
EPA meets regularly with the Komiti. This enables us to
have robust discussions on a range of matters relating
to hazardous substances and new organisms.
EPA staff, together with representatives from the
Ministry for the Environment and the Ministry of
Business Innovation and Employment, engaged with
Taranaki iwi and the Taranaki Regional Council on
proposed decommissioning regulations for structures
in the Exclusive Economic Zone. This enabled the
agencies to work together with iwi at an early stage,
leading to continual liaison throughout the process.

Proposals regarding hazardous substances and
new organisms were routinely sent for comment
to Te Herenga10, to provide an opportunity for
Māori environmental practitioners to input into the
preparation of applications, and to help applicants
address cultural risk.
Technical guidance relating to burials at sea was being
developed in partnership with the Funeral Directors’
Association of New Zealand. The process involved
EPA’s Compliance and Kaupapa Kura Taiao teams,
as well as funeral directors with a specialised
Māori perspective.

As part of the Native Species Research Project, which
is gathering regional knowledge and perspectives from
local iwi, Te Herenga hui were held in Gisborne. We
presented on the EPA’s role in respect to marine seismic
surveys in the EEZ.
A Māori reference group of experts in tikanga
Māori, mātauranga Māori, and conventional science
considered the potential risks and impacts on Māori
interests associated with the use of ethanedinitrile,
a log fumigant being proposed by Czech-based firm
Draslovka Holding, as an alternative to methyl bromide.

2.5 Performance Measures
Goal: Protection of people and the environment in partnership with businesses, Māori, and the community
Strategic Intention: Contribute effectively to the Government’s environmental, wellbeing, and economic
outcomes and results

Measure

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

Achieve compliance with the approvals, consents, regulations, rules, and EPA Notices that we are responsible
for monitoring
Hazardous substances importers and
manufacturers, and EEZ compliance
and enforcement programmes, are
identified and agreed

Programme in place
by 1 October 2016

In place by 1
October 2016

Achieved

New

With partners and stakeholders, we are contributing to reducing harm from the storage and use of hazardous
substances in the home
Feedback from key agencies involved
in the promotion of consumer
health and safety demonstrates
EPA’s consumer harm reduction
information is more accessible and
effective

Positive feedback on
whether information
is more accessible
and effective, with
increasing trend

100%11

Achieved

New

Agreements in place with:

By 30 June 2017, at
least 3 agreements

Achieved

Achieved12

New

• agencies dealing with families
and the wider community, such as
Plunket, Māori Women’s Welfare
League, Housing NZ
• industry on joint initiatives
for promoting the better use,
storage and disposal of hazardous
substances

10. Te Herenga is EPA’s nationwide network of Māori environmental
practitioners and resource managers. It discusses emerging issues
and feeds into EPA application and policy processes with the aim of
improving engagement with Māori and EPA decision making.

12. I nformal agreements with several agencies for co-hosting of Safer
Homes Week event in May 2017. Agencies included Wellington City
Council, ACC, EQC, Safe Kids Aotearoa, NZ Fire Service, SPCA,
National Poisons Centre and Housing NZ.

11. O f 18 respondents from central and local government agencies,
all agreed that EPA’s information on safety harm reduction is more
accessible and effective than 12 months ago.
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3. Appropriation Emissions Trading Scheme
3.1 Scope
The Emissions Trading Scheme appropriation is
intended to achieve implementation, operation and
administration of a greenhouse gas emissions trading
scheme in New Zealand that supports and encourages
global efforts to reduce the emission of greenhouse
gases by:
• assisting New Zealand to meet its international
obligations under the United Nations Framework
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
• reducing New Zealand’s net emissions of those gases
to below business-as-usual levels (an unconditional
target of 5% below our 1990 greenhouse gas
emissions levels by 2020, and by 30% below 2005
levels by 2030).

These activities allow the carbon market to operate.
Under this appropriation the EPA is responsible
for implementing, operating and administering the
New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) – a
greenhouse gas emissions trading scheme. We also
operate the New Zealand Emissions Trading Register,
formerly known as the New Zealand Emissions Unit
Register. The ETS and the Emissions Trading Register
both support and encourage global efforts to reduce
the emission of greenhouse gases.

Financial output
Actual 2017

Budget 2017

Variance

Actual 2016

6,392

6,392

-

6,934

-

-

-

-

43

30

13

176

Total Revenue

6,435

6,422

13

7,110

Expenses

5,831

6,422

591

7,023

604

-

604

87

Crown Funding (Vote Environment: NonDepartmental Output Expenses – Emissions
Trading Scheme).
Fees and Charges
Other Revenue

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

3.2 Key deliverables in 2016/17
In August 2016, we launched the New Zealand
Emissions Trading Register (the Register). This work is
reported in sub-section 2.3 of the Strategic Framework
section of this report.
For the 2016/17 reporting year, the EPA achieved 98.6%
against the Statement of Performance Expectations
target of 98% of participant registrations and account
applications being accurately recorded in the Register
within two business days of receipt.

38 | STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE

The EPA contributed to a review of the ETS, led by the
Ministry for the Environment. We provided operational
experience and insight, and implementation advice.
We also led work to ensure that the ETS compliance
and penalty regime was fit for purpose, and that ETS
regulatory agencies had efficient, effective compliance
tools to support the Scheme’s integrity.

Performance measures
Goal: People have trust and confidence in our work
Strategic Intention: Increase the trust of the nation, Māori, and business through decision making based on
science, evidence, mātauranga Māori, and risk assessment

Measure

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

New Zealanders trust the impartiality and transparency of the EPA’s activities
Customers trust in the integrity and
security of the NZEUR (now NZETR) and
ETS systems and processes.

By 30 June
2017, greater
than 80%

67% agreed

Not Achieved13

62% agreed

Goal: Protection of people and the environment in partnership with businesses, Māori, and the community
Strategic Intention: Contribute effectively to the Government’s environmental, wellbeing, and economic
outcomes and results

Measure

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

Achieve compliance with the approvals, consents, regulations, rules, and EPA Notices that we are responsible
for monitoring
ETS data integrity ensures
that participants and account
holders are able to be contacted
appropriately, they are aware of
changes as they relate to the ETS
or the carbon market, and they
are able to undertake legitimate
transactions

98% of participant
registrations and
account applications are
accurately recorded in
the Register within two
business days of receipt
of a properly completed
application

98.6%

Achieved

98.87%

13. R
 esult shows an upward trend. 17% of respondents were neither
agreed nor disagreed

STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE | 39

4. Cross appropriation reporting
The performance measures reported on in the previous
pages cover the EPA’s three individual appropriations,
and are linked to our strategic goals and strategic
intentions.

Where a performance measure applies to more than
one of our appropriations, this is reported on below.
The performance measures are grouped according to
the strategic goal and strategic intention to which they
relate.

Goal: People have trust and confidence in our work
Strategic Intention: Increase the trust of the nation, Māori, and business through decision-making based on
science, evidence, mātauranga Māori, and risk assessment

Measure (all appropriations)

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

Not achieved14

63%

New Zealanders trust the impartiality and transparency of the EPA’s activities
New Zealanders have trust and
confidence in the EPA

By 30 June 2017, 70%

64%

The EPA is regarded as contributing effectively across all-of-government or sector-specific initiatives
Positive feedback from Ministers
and central and local government
agencies on the EPA’s leadership
and contributions, to both sectorwide government work and
responding to specific queries

Minimum sample of 25
contacted annually with
at least 80% positive
feedback

14. D
 ata from the Public Sector Trust and Confidence Survey. The
survey places the EPA in the bottom 25% of the 25 central and
local government agencies surveyed. This may reflect lower name
recognition and understanding of our role, compared with that of
agencies such as the NZ Fire Service and Police. The result is very
similar to the previous year’s. There has been a gradually upward
trend since 2012.
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98%

Achieved15

New

15. T
 here were 47 respondents to survey from across 25 agencies/offices.
98% regarded EPA contribution to their work as either ‘very helpful’
or ‘helpful’.

Goal: Delivery of the right decisions cost effectively
Strategic Intention: Improve operational performance, including through enhanced EPA systems, and customer
experiences

Measure (all appropriations)

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

Customers are satisfied with the overall level of service provided by the EPA
A customer-centricity
programme is in place and is
reflected in business processes

Programme in place by
1 October 2016

Achieved

Achieved

New

EPA customers agree:

By 30 June 2017,
averaged score of 80%
or more

Average 65%
agreed

Not Achieved16

–– Average 67% agreed

• our overall level of service
meets or exceeds expectations

–– Access – 61%
–– Understanding – 63%

• our information is easy or very
easy to access

–– Contact – 78%

• our information is easy or very
easy to understand
• it is easy or very easy to
contact us
A programme of process reviews
is in place to identify efficiencies

Programme in place by
1 October 2016

Not in place

Not Achieved17

New

Undertaking our obligations to Māori, statutory and other, through our He Whetū Mārama framework
Māori agree:
• they are aware or very aware of
opportunities to participate in
EPA functions

By 30 June 2017,
averaged score of 80%

Average 59%
agreed with
measure
statement

Not Achieved18

New

• our overall quality of service
meets or exceeds expectations
• our information is easy or very
easy to access
• our information is easy or very
easy to understand
• it is easy or very easy to
contact us
Customers are satisfied with the quality of online services
Customers agree that where online
transactions can be made with EPA, it is
easy or very easy to carry them out

By 30 June 2017, 70%

54% agreed

Not
Achieved19

New

New Zealanders found information that
met their needs on the EPA’s website, in
the past 12 months

By 30 June 2017, 70%

55% agreed

Not
Achieved20

57%

16. Slight decrease but not statistically significant. 27% of respondents
were neutral (neither agreed nor disagreed). Only 8% disagreed or
strongly disagreed.
17. A
 specific process review programme was not completed. However
process improvements were made through initiatives such as the
Customer Centricity programme, the new Programme/Project
Management Office, FMIS replacement and improvements to the
hazardous substances applications process.

18. 2
 9% of respondents were neutral (neither agreed nor disagreed). Only
12% disagreed or strongly disagreed.
19. 2
 4% of respondents were neutral (neither agreed nor disagreed). 62%
of customers logging in through RealMe found it easy/extremely easy.
20. S
 light decrease but not statistically significant. 22% of respondents
were neutral (neither agreed nor disagreed).
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Goal: Protection of people and the environment in partnership with businesses, Māori, and the community
Strategic Intention: Contribute effectively to the Government’s environmental, wellbeing, and economic
outcomes and results

Measure (decision making and monitoring
and enforcement)

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

The impacts of hazardous substances on the environment are understood and reduced
A hazardous substances modernisation
programme is identified and agreed

Programme in
place by 1 October
2016

Not in place for
1 October 2016

Not
Achieved21

New

Those parts of the modernisation
programme needed to implement the
new health and safety reform legislation
are in place when the legislation comes
into force. This is to be when specified
by Order in Council but can be no later
than 1 January 2018

By 30 June 2017,
implementation of
the new legislation
subject to Order in
Council

On track to
implement by
1 December
2017

Achieved22

New

Achieved23

New

Iwi/hapū are consistently enabled to give effect to kaitiakitanga
Undertake shared projects with Ngā
Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, Te Herenga,
and Iwi on particular areas of Māori
interest in our work

At least one
project initiated
by 30 June 2017

21. D
 elayed due to focus on Health and Safety Reforms’ work. Work on
programme now underway and will continue in 2017/18.
22. The target was subject to the date specified by Order in Council. The
Order in Council was signed by Cabinet on 8 August 2017 with the
legislation to come into effect on 1 December 2017. This is within the
broader timeframe outlined in the measure statement.
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Achieved

23. Work undertaken on development of mātauranga Māori framework.

The
organisation

04
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Developing
our people and
improving our
business capability
1. Strategic intention
Our strategic priorities for 2016/17 included building the
EPA’s depth and breadth of leadership, and technical
expertise, to ensure we have the capability and capacity
to respond to stakeholder and customer demand.
To progress this strategic intention we focused on
implementing the EPA’s people strategy, and that work
is reported on in the Strategic Framework section of
this report, sub-section 4.2.

2. Improving processes and systems
In addition to building capability, we focused
on improving processes and systems across the
organisation, so we can be more flexible, responsive,
and smart. Key developments included:
• identifying our HR information system requirements,
so we can provide effective advice and services on all
aspects of human resources across the EPA. An initial
approach to market was made in June 2017
• implementing a new financial management system,
and online submission capability, and refining our
customer management relationship system
• initiating a project to replace the EPA’s electronic
document management system, customer
management relationship system, and redeveloping
the EPA website
• improving the hazardous substances
applications process
• developing an Incident Response Standard Operating
Procedure and conducting an exercise to prepare for
any future significant spill of harmful substances in
the EEZ
• developing a risk assessment framework to
prioritise upcoming inspections and compliance
monitoring activity.
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With the introduction of the new Health and Safety at
Work legislation, the Board has focused on ensuring
leadership responsibilities are clear, and that EPA
is building capability, and developing its maturity in
managing health and safety performance. Considerable
work was undertaken during 2016/17 to ensure EPA’s
health and safety practices and procedures meet the
requirements of the new legislation. Key initiatives
include the updating of the Health and Safety
Policy Statement, as well as the Health and Safety
Management System Framework.

Goal: A confident EPA with highly capable and engaged people working collaboratively for optimum results
Strategic Intention: Build depth and breadth of leadership and technical expertise to ensure we have the
capability and capacity to respond to stakeholder and customer demand

Measures that demonstrate
achievement

Target

Actual 2016/17

Standard met

Actual 2015/16

We have a strong learning culture that supports our ability to attract, grow and retain talent
Staff turnover

Less than 15% per year

20.83%

Not Achieved24

24.4%

Investment in staff
training and professional
development opportunities

By 30 June 2017, 2.75%

2.75%

Achieved

2.3%

Deliver a Human Resources
programme of work that
covers:

By 1 October 2016, report
to Board on leadership
development framework and
expectations
By 1 December 2016, report
to Board on recruitment and
human resources system
review

Two reports
provided to
Board

Achieved

New

Number of staff who
speak at conferences or
similar events, and positive
feedback received where
provided

More than 10 per year and
feedback equal to a rating of
4 out of 5 (where provided)

Staff spoke at
more than 10
conferences or
similar events
and positive
feedback was
received for
10 or more of
these events25

Achieved

New

Staff are recognised for their
contributions to scientific,
technical, and specialist
debates and publications

Reports to Board show that
we are recognised for our
contributions

Regular
Organisational
Update
Reports to the
Board included
recognition
of staff
contributions
to scientific,
technical and
specialist
debates and
publications

Achieved

New

• strengthening our
leadership capability
• strategic agility
• Māori capability
• customer-centricity and
partnership engagement
• regulatory expertise

24. Turnover is trending down. We continue to monitor staff exit surveys
to understand why our highly- skilled and qualified staff leave. We
have recently implemented new initiatives e.g. increased learning and
development funding to help address turnover levels.

25. A
 s a numerical rating was only received on one occasion, we have
taken into account other positive feedback from organisers and
attendees as a proxy for a rating of 4 out of 5.
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3. Good employer obligations
To be a good employer, the EPA must achieve high
standards across a range of measures. During the year
we collected benchmarking data and reported on it to
the Human Rights Commission. Internally, we use the
data to drive continued performance improvement.
Obligations are monitored in the following areas:
• employee development and promotion, and exit
processes
• flexibility and work design
• leadership, accountability and culture
• maintaining a safe and healthy environment
• preventing harassment and bullying

Good employer obligations

• recruitment, selection and induction
• remuneration, recognition and conditions.
The EPA has a diverse and highly-qualified workforce,
as our work calls for expertise across a wide range of
disciplines. The majority of our staff are New Zealandborn but, because of our reputation and the diversity
of our work, we are attractive to skilled staff from
other parts of the world, including Pacific, Asian and
European countries. We value the range of world views
and experiences our staff bring to their work.
Staff voluntarily provide information that allows us to
report (in aggregate) on their age, sex, ethnic identity,
and whether they identify themselves as disabled.

Achievement

Leadership, accountability and culture
Ensure the EPA’s vision articulates our commitment to
equality and diversity

The EPA’s vision of an environment protected,
enhancing our way of life and the economy, is
supported by organisational policies and processes
(Code of Conduct and Recruitment), and through
He Whetū Mārama (our Māori framework) that
articulates our commitment to equality and diversity

Encourage the development of a culture that is
supportive and equitable for all staff

Ninety-three percent of staff took part in a review of
our organisational values, via a series of workshops
which were held in February 2017. Staff considered
the values and behaviours that would reflect our four
strategic pillars
The output from these workshops has been distilled
into a series of values statements that will help to
drive organisational culture during 2017/18
Staff suggestions are encouraged and responded to.
At our monthly all-staff meetings we acknowledge
outstanding contributions to work deliverables, and
also examples of behaviours that uphold EPA values
All staff are encouraged to contribute technical and
opinion pieces, on matters ranging from science
to values, for publication on the intranet, and many
do so

Encourage development of a learning culture that will
enhance the EPA’s performance, while supporting the
aspirations of staff

We have increased our investment in staff learning
and development, and are committed to further
increase by 2020. Learning and development
opportunities offered include secondments and
management opportunities, as well as formal,
informal and on-the-job learning

Recruitment, selection and induction
Ensure the continued use of robust and transparent
recruitment and selection processes
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The management of recruitment by our HR specialists
uses transparent hiring processes to ensure that
legislative requirements are met, and that the best
people are selected for the right position, at the
appropriate time

Good employer obligations

Achievement

Use innovative channels to attract diverse applicants

We recognise the importance of attracting, valuing,
and understanding a diverse workforce. We use a
range of channels to attract candidates, including
recruitment websites, business and employmentoriented and social networking services, such as
LinkedIn and Twitter, national and international
recruitment agencies, journals, domestic newspapers
and networking forums. We continue to consider new
ways to connect with our target audiences

Monitor candidate and workforce demographics in
relation to age, ethnicity, gender and disability

The EPA recognises the importance of having equal
employment policies in place to eliminate barriers
to employment. Information is collected relating to
staff demographics, and reports are delivered to
management regularly

Employee development, promotion and exit processes
The EPA will provide equal access to personal
development and other activities that may lead to
promotion

Each staff member has a performance and
development plan, and is encouraged to take
up opportunities for advancement or personal
development. Workshops, seminars and courses
are provided in-house for staff to attend. Vacancies,
advancement opportunities and secondments
are advertised internally. Career progression and
secondment guidelines have been issued

Our performance management practices will be
transparent and fair

Staff are assessed against objectives and
competencies that are agreed with their manager at
the beginning of the reporting year, or as changes
occur. Managers review performance plans with staff
at regular catch-up sessions throughout the year.
Performance reviews are conducted mid-year
and annually

Staff will have the opportunity to complete an ‘inconfidence’ exit survey

All staff leaving the EPA are offered the opportunity
to complete an ‘in-confidence’ exit survey, either
online or in person

Flexibility and work design
Work towards an organisation-wide flexible work
programme to recognise the needs of parents and other
caregivers

Managers engage with staff about their well-being at
regular catch-up sessions. Discussions are held with
new parents/caregivers prior to returning to work.
Support for individual needs can include working
flexible hours, a phased return to work, part-time
hours or working from home. Reviews are undertaken
to monitor flexible working patterns, to ensure they
are working well for all parties

Provide facilities for the use of parents/caregivers

A private wellbeing room is available for
parents/caregivers

Remuneration, recognition and conditions
Continue to provide transparent, equitable and genderneutral job evaluation processes

Our job evaluation processes include a regular review
of job descriptions, job ‘bands’ and remuneration
levels, to ensure transparent, equitable and genderneutral job evaluation processes
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Good employer obligations

Achievement

The remuneration system will be reviewed regularly

The remuneration system is reviewed on a regular
basis, with trends monitored throughout the year,
and key data sets reviewed as part of the end-of-year
remuneration process

Prevention of harassment and bullying
Relevant policies and the Code of Conduct
will be promoted to staff

We recognise it is critical to review and articulate key
policies and practices for all staff. We do this through
induction processes, presentations at monthly staff
meetings and intranet updates. All new staff must
read the Code of Conduct as part of their induction,
and attest in writing that they have done so

Managers and staff are trained in their responsibilities

All new staff members are provided with targeted
induction processes and face-to-face induction
training, to ensure they know their responsibilities.
Within one to two months of joining, staff participate
in a corporate induction session that outlines the role
of business units across the organisation

The leadership team ensures there is zero tolerance
of harassment and bullying

The EPA has zero tolerance to bullying. If identified,
it would be dealt with promptly and in an appropriate
manner. Harassment and bullying information is
included in our Employment Relations policy

Safe and healthy environment
Create an environment that supports employee
participation in health and safety

The Board, managers and staff are fully committed
to ensuring that the EPA is a safe environment in
which to work. Staff representatives have been
elected and they support the Health and Safety
Committee, which has members drawn from across
the organisation. Appropriate training is provided to
all members and representatives
The Board receives regular reports on incidents
and hazards, and activities undertaken to support
Health and Safety. The Chief Executive is a member
of the Business Leaders Health and Safety Forum,
which provide mutual support to achieve Zero Harm
Workplaces

Take a proactive approach to employee health
and well-being

All staff members receive a worksite assessment
when they join the EPA, change desks, or have signs
of discomfort. Onsite yoga and massage sessions
are available to staff at their own expense. Group
discounts are available through providers for private
healthcare. The EPA also contributes towards eye
tests and annual flu vaccinations for staff

Staff will have easy access to the Employee Assistance
Programme

The EPA promotes the Employee Assistance
Programme (EAP) website and 0800 number on the
staff intranet, through the HR team and on posters
around the organisation. Staff members are also told
about EAP services during periods of change, after
natural disasters or during personal discussions with
the HR team or their managers

Our HR policies will reflect these commitments
and progress will be reported annually to the Human
Rights Commission

To ensure their effectiveness, our HR policies
are reviewed against legislative changes, legal
precedent, effective equal employment opportunities
and good practice
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65%
35%

Gender

61%
FEMALE 2016

FEMALE 2017

39%
MALE 2016

MALE 2017

Age
2016

KEY
2017
2016

2017

20-29

11%

14%

30-39

31%

31%

40-49

29%

23%

50-59

19%

21%

60-69

9%

10%

70 -79

1%

1%

Ethnicity
2016

2017

New Zealand European

68%

66%

Other European

17%

16.4%

Māori

2%

5%

Undisclosed

5%

3.1%

Other Ethnic Group

3%

3.1%

Asian

5%

2.5%

Pacific Peoples

1%

1.9%

Samoan

1%

0.6%

KEY

2017
2016

Ethnicity NZ

0.6%

Ethnicity NZ US

0.6%

We have no employees who categorise themselves as disabled.
As at 30 June 2017 the average age of staff, to the nearest whole year, was 43 years. There were 159 employees.

THE ORGANISATION | 49

Our status,
responsibilities and
functions
The EPA is a Crown Agent for the purposes of the
Crown Entities Act 2004. The EPA was established
under the Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011.
Our objective, as set out in this Act, is to undertake our
functions in a way that:
• contributes to the efficient, effective and transparent
management of New Zealand’s environment, and
natural and physical resources
• enables New Zealand to meet its
international obligations.
The EPA has specific purposes under various pieces of
environmental legislation. They are:

The Board is also responsible for statutory functions,
some of which it delegates to Board committees, or the
Chief Executive.
The Board usually meets six-weekly to carry out
governance functions and deal with major issues.
Out-of-session decisions are made as required.

EPA Board members
• Kerry Prendergast - (Chair)
• Dr Kevin Thompson - (Deputy Chair)
• Tim Lusk - Member
• Gillian Wratt - Member
• Dr Nicki Crauford - Member
• Kura Denness (Te Atiawa) - Member
• Dayle Hunia (Ngāti Awa) - Member
• Geoffrey Thompson - Member

• Climate Change Response Act 2002

• Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao attendees:
Lisa Te Heuheu or Tīpene Wilson

• Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf
(Environmental Effects) Act 2012

Board committees

• Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996
• Imports and Exports (Restrictions) Act 1988 and
Prohibition Order (No 2) 2004
• Ozone Layer Protection Act 1996
• Resource Management Act 1991.
The EPA reports to the Minister for the Environment,
and the Minister for Climate Change Issues on topics
relevant to their respective portfolios.

Governance
The EPA Board
The Board is required to have between six and eight
members, who are appointed by the Minister for the
Environment. The Board is responsible for governance
of the organisation, including setting strategic
direction and monitoring performance and, under the
Health and Safety at Work Act 2015, it holds ultimate
accountability for health and safety direction and
performance of the EPA.
The Minister for the Environment provides the EPA
with an annual letter outlining expectations. This
document guides development of the annual Statement
of Performance Expectations. This, along with our
Statement of Intent, are tabled in Parliament, and are
the primary sources from which Parliament is able to
hold the EPA to account.
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The Board has appointed two standing committees to
assist it in carrying out its governance responsibilities:
• Audit and Risk Committee: oversees the
accountability processes, and financial and
organisational risks
–– Members are Tim Lusk (Chair),
Kerry Prendergast, Nicki Crauford,
Geoff Thompson, Kura Denness
–– The Committee met four times during 2016/17.
• Performance Review and Remuneration Committee:
monitors the Chief Executive’s performance and
approves the remuneration structure.
–– Members are Kerry Prendergast (Chair),
Kevin Thompson, Dayle Hunia, Gillian Wratt
–– The Committee met five times during 2016/17.

Statutory committees
• The EPA is supported by two statutory committees:
–– the Māori advisory committee Ngā Kaihautū
Tikanga Taiao, and the Hazardous Substances
and New Organisms Committee.

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao

Staff

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao has up to eight members
who are appointed by the Board under Part 2 of the
EPA Act 2011. They advise the Board on policy, process
and decision making from a Māori perspective. The
members are:

EPA staff support the Board to carry out its statutory
functions, and are responsible for delegated decision
making in a number of areas. Since May 2016 the
organisation has been structured into seven groups,
each of which is led by a general manager. These
groups are:

• Steven (Tīpene) Wilson, Tumuaki (Chair)
Ngāti Koroki Kahukura, Ngāti Apakura, Ngāti Tura
and Ngāti Te Ngākau
• Lisa te Heuheu, Tumuaki Tuarua (Deputy Chair,
then Chair from 1 July 2017)
Ngāpuhi, Ngāti Raukawa, Ngāti Maniapoto
• Ngaire Burley (Member)
Tapuika, Ngāti Moko, Ngāti Marukukere and
Ngāti Kurī
• James (Jim) Doherty (Member)
Ngāti Tāwhaki, Ngāti Kahungunu, Ngāti Ruāpani,
Ngāti Awa, Ngāti Hokopū and Ngāi Tūhoe
• Kelly May (Member)
Ngāti Kahungunu and Ngāti Marangatūhetaua
• James Whetu (Member)
Waikato, Ngāti Raukawa, Ngāti Tūwharetoa and
Ngāti Whakaue
• Maree Haupai Puke (Member)
Waikato, Maniapoto, Ngāti Porou and Ngāti Whakaue
• Dr Daniel Hikuroa (Member)
Ngāti Maniapoto, Waikato-Tainui, Ngāti Uekaha

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
Committee
The EPA Board appoints a Hazardous Substances and
New Organisms (HSNO) Committee under the Crown
Entities Act 2004. This committee currently consists of
eight members, and is chaired by the EPA Board Deputy
Chair, Dr Kevin Thompson. The committee hears and
decides applications made under the HSNO Act, except
for some decisions that the Board has delegated to staff
members and third parties.
The members are:
• Dr Kevin Thompson (Chair)
• Dr Kerry Laing (Member)
• Dr Louise Malone (Member)
• Dr Deborah Read (Member until 31 July 2016)

• Climate, Land and Oceans
• Finance and Systems
• Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
• Human Resources
• Kaupapa Kura Taiao
• Science
• Strategic and Regulatory Services.

Exclusive Economic Zone decision-making
committees
The EEZ Act has three decision pathways for marine
consents, permissions and authorisations, following
enactment of the Resource Law Amendment Act on 1
June 2017:
• EPA-appointed, delegated decision-making
committees (which must include at least one EPA
Board member) for publicly notified marine consents
that are not section 20 activities, and for non-notified
marine consents
• Boards of Inquiry appointed by the Minister for
the Environment (which may include an EPA Board
member) make decisions on marine consents for
restricted section 20 activities
• Other decisions under the EEZ Act are delegated by
the EPA Board to the Chief Executive and EPA staff,
where appropriate.

Resource Management Act Boards of
Inquiry
Boards of Inquiry are independent of the EPA. Board
members are individually appointed by the Minister
for the Environment (sometimes in conjunction with
the Minister of Conservation) and the Boards make
decisions on Nationally Significant Proposals (NSPs)
under the Resource Management Act (1991). Over the
years, NSPs have included major roading projects, a
prison, a fish farm, a windfarm, and an inland port.

• Dr John Taylor (Member)
• Dr Nicholas Roskruge (Member)
• Dr Ngaire Phillips (Member)
• Dr Sharon Adamson (Member from January 2016)
• Dr Derek Belton (Member from 1 August 2016)
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Financial
statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017
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Statement of responsibility
The Board of the EPA is responsible for the preparation
of the EPA’s Financial Statements and Statement of
Performance, and for the judgements made in them.
The Board is responsible for any end-of-year
performance information provided by the EPA under
section 19A of the Public Finance Act 1989.
The Board has the responsibility for establishing and
maintaining a system of internal controls designed to
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and
reliability of financial reporting.
In the Board’s opinion, these Financial Statements and
Statement of Performance fairly reflect the financial
position and operations of the EPA for the year ended
30 June 2017.

Kerry Prendergast
Chair
Environmental Protection Authority
30 October 2017

Tim Lusk
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee
Environmental Protection Authority
30 October 2017
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Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Actual
2017

Budget
2017

Actual
2016

25,267

25,267

26,117

5,005

5,051

3,111

4

30,272

30,318

29,228

6

15,865

16,310

15,084

Boards and committees remuneration

14

297

390

355

EEZ Decision Making Committee remuneration

14

363

205

-

183

275

-

In thousands of NZD

Notes

Revenue
Funding from the Crown
Other revenue
TOTAL REVENUE

Expenses
Personnel costs

Boards of Inquiry remuneration
Depreciation and amortisation expense

7

1,914

1,951

1,960

Other expenses

5

11,251

11,187

11,040

29,873

30,318

28,439

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

399

-

789

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE

399

-

789

Actual
2017

Budget
2017

Actual
2016

14,073

13,284

13,284

399

-

789

14,472

13,284

14,073

TOTAL EXPENSES

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017

In thousands of NZD

BALANCE AT 1 JULY

Net surplus for the year
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2017
Notes

Actual
2017

Budget
2017

Actual
2016

12

2,107

2,104

3,008

Receivables

8,12

2,786

714

1,329

Investments

12

5,000

3,000

5,500

346

141

160

10,239

5,959

9,997

In thousands of NZD

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Prepayments
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

1,221

1,232

1,615

Intangible assets

7

6,261

9,072

5,398

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

7,482

10,304

7,013

TOTAL ASSETS

17,721

16,263

17,010

9,12

1,964

1,799

1,538

Employee entitlements

10

933

809

954

Operating lease

13

71

71

71

2,968

2,679

2,563

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements

10

70

55

92

Operating lease

13

211

245

282

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

281

300

374

3,249

2,979

2,937

14,472

13,284

14,073

14,472

13,284

14,073

14,472

13,284

14,073

Equity
General fund
TOTAL EQUITY

11

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Notes

Actual
2017

Budget
2017

Actual
2016

4

25,267

25,267

26,117

177

122

265

3,418

5,870

3,309

Payments to suppliers

(12,473)

(12,326)

(12,226)

Payments to employees

(15,430)

(16,278)

(14,451)

In thousands of NZD

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from the Crown
Interest received
Receipts from other revenue

Goods and services tax (net)

23

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(12)

40

982

2,643

3,054

3,000

2,000

7,000

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from maturity of term deposits
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(123)

(250)

(295)

Purchase of intangible assets

(2,260)

(5,100)

(2,017)

Investments in term deposits

(2,500)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(1,883)

(3,350)

(4,812)

(901)

(707)

(1,758)

3,008

2,811

4,766

2,107

2,104

3,008

Notes

Actual
2017

Actual
2016

399

789

1,914

1,960

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR

12

-

(9,500)

Reconciliation of surplus with net cash
from operating activities
for the year ended 30 June 2017

In thousands of NZD

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense

7

Add/(less) items classified as investing activities:
(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment

-

(2)

TOTAL ITEMS CLASSIFIED AS INVESTING ACTIVITIES

-

(2)

Add/(less) net movements in working capital items
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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(1,331)
982

307
3,054

Notes to
the financial
statements
For the year ended 30 June 2017

1

Reporting entity

12

2

Summary of significant
accounting policies

Financial instruments
and risk management

13

Operating leases

14

Related-party transactions
and key management 		
personnel

15

Indemnity

16

Contingent assets
or liabilities

17

Events after the balance
sheet date

18

Explanation of significant
variances against budget

3

Use of judgements
and estimates

4

Revenue

5

Other expenses

6

Personnel costs

7

Property, plant and 		
equipment, and
intangible assets

8

Receivables

9

Payables

10

Employee entitlements

11

Equity
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1. Reporting entity
The Environmental Protection Authority (the ‘EPA’) is
a Crown Agent as defined by the Crown Entities Act
2004 and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand.
The EPA was established under the Environmental
Protection Authority Act 2011. The EPA’s ultimate parent
is the New Zealand Crown (the ‘Crown’).
The EPA has responsibility for regulatory functions
concerning New Zealand’s environmental management.
These include national consenting under the Resource
Management Act, management of the New Zealand
Emissions Trading Scheme and Register, regulation
of hazardous substances, new organisms,
ozone -depleting chemicals, hazardous waste exports
and imports, assessment of environmental effects in
Antarctica, and managing the environmental effects
of activities in the Exclusive Economic Zone and
Continental Shelf.
The EPA has designated itself as a public benefit entity
(PBE) for financial reporting purposes.
The financial statements for the EPA are for the year
ended 30 June 2017, and were approved by the Board
on 30 October 2017.

Basis of preparation
a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities
Act 2004 and with New Zealand Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (“NZ GAAP”). They comply with
the PBE Accounting Standards as appropriate for Tier 1
Public Sector Public Benefit Entities.

b) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand
Dollars (NZD) and all amounts have been rounded to the
nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

2. Summary of significant
accounting policies

because the primary objective for the use of these
assets is not to realise a commercial return.
The EPA assesses at each reporting date whether there
is an indication that a non-cash-generating asset may
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the EPA
estimates the asset’s recoverable service amount. An
asset’s recoverable service amount is the higher of the
non-cash generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use.
In determining fair value less costs to sell, the EPA may
engage an independent valuer or it assesses market
value based on the best available information. The
assessment of value is determined based on valuation
techniques that are appropriate for the asset.
Value in use is the present value of an asset’s remaining
service potential. It is determined using an approach
based on either a depreciated replacement cost
approach, a restoration cost approach, or a service
units approach. The most appropriate approach used
to measure value in use depends on the nature of the
impairment and availability of information. If an asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable
amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the
surplus or deficit. The reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

b) Goods and services tax (GST)
Items in the financial statements are presented
exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables,
which are stated on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST
is not recoverable as input tax, it is recognised as part
of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
Inland Revenue (IRD) is included as part of receivables
or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.
The net GST paid to or received from the IRD, including
the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is
classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of
Cash Flows.

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes
to which they relate. Significant accounting policies
that do not relate to a specific note are outlined below.
There have been no changes to accounting policies and
all accounting policies have been applied consistently
throughout the period.

c) Income tax

a) Impairment of non-financial assets

The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
Performance Expectations as approved by the Board
at the beginning of the financial year. The budgeted
figures are unaudited.

The EPA classifies its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets as non-cash generating assets
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The EPA is a public authority and consequently is
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly,
no provision has been made for income tax.

d) Budget figures

e) Standards issued and not yet effective, and
not early adopted
The Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to PBE IPSAS
1), 2015 Omnibus Amendments to PBE Standards, and
Amendments to PBE Standards and Authoritative Notice
as a consequence of XRB A1 and Other Amendments,
which were effective for reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2016, have been applied in the
preparation of these financial statements. These
amendments had no effect on the financial results
reported in these financial statements.
There are no new, revised or amended standards that
have been issued but not yet effective that would have
a significant impact on these financial statements.

3. Use of judgements
and estimates
In preparing these financial statements, management
has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of the EPA’s accounting policies
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to estimates are
recognised prospectively.

a) Judgements
• Provision for impairment of receivables (Note 8)
• Determining lease classification (Note 13)

b) Accounting estimates and assumptions
• Useful lives and residual value of property, plant and
equipment (PP&E) (Note 7)
• Useful lives of software assets (Note 7)
• Measuring long service leave obligations (Note 10)

4. Revenue
2017

2016

Resource Management Act cost recovery fees

1,251

45

Exclusive Economic Zone cost recovery fees

2,146

233

864

2,053

176

262

42

146

4,479

2,739

25,267

26,117

493

286

33

86

TOTAL REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

25,793

26,489

TOTAL REVENUE

30,272

29,228

In thousands of NZD

Revenue from exchange transactions

Cost recovery from local government support
Interest Income
Other Fees and Revenue
TOTAL REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Funding from the Crown
Hazardous Substances application fees
New Organisms application fees
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Accounting Policies
Revenue from exchange and non-exchange
transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions are transactions
in which the EPA receives cash, and directly gives
approximately equal value, normally in the form of
services, to another entity in exchange. Revenue from
non-exchange transactions are those where the EPA
receives cash from another entity without directly
exchanging approximately equal value. The EPA’s
significant items of revenue are as follows:

a) Provision of services
Services provided to third parties under the ‘HSNO’
Act in accordance with the EPA’s published fees
and charges schedule are treated as non-exchange
transactions as the fees and charges do not reflect the
actual cost of producing the services. Services provided
to third parties on commercial or full cost recovery
terms e.g. in relation to the Resource Management Act
(RMA) and Economic Exclusive Zone (EEZ) are treated

as exchange transactions. Revenue from the provision
of services are recognised by reference to their stage
of completion.

b) Revenue from the Crown
The EPA is primarily funded by the Crown. This
funding is restricted in its use for the purpose of the
EPA meeting the objectives specified in its founding
legislation and the scope of the relevant Crown
Appropriations. The EPA considers there are no
conditions attached to the funding and it is recognised
as revenue at the point on entitlement. This is
considered to be the start of the appropriation period
to which the funding relates. The fair value of revenue
from the Crown has been determined to be equivalent
to the amounts due in the funding arrangements.

c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method.

5. Other expenses
2017

2016

72

70

Operating lease expenses

1,208

1,232

Consultancy costs

5,330

5,322

684

553

Other expenses

3,957

3,863

TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

11,251

11,040

In thousands of NZD

Audit fees – financial statements audit

Travel costs

‘Other expenses’ include expenses for computing and telecommunications, office stationery, publications and office
maintenance.

6. Personnel costs
In thousands of NZD

Notes

Salaries and wages
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements
Other staff-related costs
TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS

10

2017

2016

14,751

13,741

371

371

(43)

197

786

775

15,865

15,084

During the year ended 30 June 2017, seven employees received a total of $265,268 in compensation or other
benefits in relation to cessation of employment (2016: five employees, total $456,000) and is reported as other
staff-related costs.
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Employee remuneration and other benefits
The number of employees who have received remuneration and other benefits in excess of $100,000 in bands of
$10,000 are disclosed in the table below;
2017

2016

100,000 – 109,999

10

16

110,000 – 119,999

8

4

120,000 – 129,999

4

6

130,000 – 139,999

5

9

140,000 – 149,999

6

2

150,000 – 159,999

-

2

160,000 – 169,999

1

1

170,000 – 179,999

2

-

180,000 – 189,999

1

2

190,000 – 199,999

2

1

200,000 – 209,999

1

-

270,000 – 279,999

1

-

390,000 – 399,999

-

1

400,000 – 409,999

1

-

TOTAL EMPLOYEES

42

44

Total value of remuneration and other benefits paid or payable
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7. Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Computer
hardware

Furniture,
fittings
and office
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Capital
work in
progress

Total

2,004

1,901

1,508

-

5,413

Additions

126

18

7

-

151

Disposals

(129)

-

-

-

(129)

2,001

1,919

1,515

-

5,435

Additions

60

19

-

40

119

Disposals

(859)

-

-

In thousands of NZD

Costs
Balance at 1 July 2015

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016

(562)

(1,421)

1,202

1,376

1,515

40

4,133

1,637

1,276

470

-

3,383

197

198

171

-

566

-

-

-

(129)

1,705

1,474

641

-

3,820

148

196

169

-

513

Disposals

(859)

(562)

-

-

(1,421)

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

994

1,108

810

-

2,912

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 July 2015
Depreciation
Disposals
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016

Depreciation

(129)

Carrying amounts
AT 1 JULY 2015

367

625

1,038

-

2,030

AT 30 JUNE 2016

296

445

874

-

1,615

AT 30 JUNE 2017

208

268

705

40

1,221
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7. Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets (cont)
Intangible assets
Computer software

Capital work in
progress

Total

8,393

2,478

10,871

222

1,815

2,037

8,615

4,293

12,908

Additions

-

2,267

2,267

Disposals

(7)

In thousands of NZD

Costs
Balance at 1 July 2015
Additions
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016

(6,560)

(7)

Transfer

6,560

-

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

15,168

-

15,168

Balance at 1 July 2015

6,116

-

6,116

Amortisation

1,394

-

1,394

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016

7,510

-

7,510

Amortisation

1,402

-

1,402

Accumulated amortisation

Disposals
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2017

(5)

-

8,907

-

(5)
8,907

Carrying amounts
AT 1 JULY 2015

2,277

2,478

4,755

AT 30 JUNE 2016

1,105

4,293

5,398

AT 30 JUNE 2017

6,261

-

6,261

Accounting policies
All property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
or amortisation and impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. Where an asset is acquired
in a non-exchange transaction for nil or nominal
consideration the asset is initially measured at its fair
value. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is
probable that the future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the EPA. All other
repair and maintenance costs are recognised in surplus
or deficit as incurred. The costs of self-constructed
assets are recognised as capital work in progress until
the assets are operating in the manner intended, at
which time they are transferred to property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Depreciation and amortisation are recognised in surplus
or deficit and are calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets less their residual values using the straight-line
method over their useful lives as follows.
Type of asset

Useful Life

Computer hardware

3 - 4 years

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

6 years

Leasehold improvements

6 - 9 years

Computer software

3 - 8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period. The majority of
computer software comprises the NZ Emission Trading
Register (NZETR) system, which was brought into
operation in the current year.
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Judgements and estimates

Accounting policies

Estimating useful lives of software assets

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently recorded at the amount due, less any
provision for impairment. A receivable is considered
impaired when there is objective evidence the amount
due will not be fully collected. The amount of the
impairment is the difference between the carrying
amount of the receivable and the present value of the
amounts expected to be collected.

The EPA purchased and developed a number
of databases for the management of HSNO Act
applications. A new New Zealand Emissions Trading
Register has also been developed to replace the
previous system, and was commissioned into operation
in the first quarter of the 2016/17 financial year. These
databases and systems are estimated to have a useful
life of eight years.
During the year, the EPA implemented a new Financial
Management Information System (FMIS) as a full
replacement of the previous system. As the new FMIS
was commissioned into operation with effect from
1 July 2017, Management has determined that the net
book value of the old system should be fully amortised
by 30 June 2017. Accelerated amortisation of
$391,000 has been recognised and reported as part
of ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in surplus
and deficit.

Judgements
Provision for impairment of receivables
All receivables older than 30 days are considered to
be past due. Management has assessed any objective
evidence of impairment of all overdue receivables as at
reporting date. The existing provision for impairment of
receivables is determined to be unchanged at $208,000
(2016: $208,000). Management believes that other
unimpaired amounts that are past due by more than 30
days are still collectible in full, based on the facts and
circumstances surrounding the delayed settlement.

Capital commitments
In thousands of NZD

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
TOTAL CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2017

2016

40

-

-

1,719

40

1,719

Capital commitments represent capital expenditure
contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred. The
property, plant and equipment commitment represents
the contract signed for the upgrade of the existing
Private Automatic Branch Exchange (PABX) system.
(2016: Commitment relates to development of
the NZETR)

9. Payables
2017

2016

1,028

444

Income in advance

111

66

Accrued expenses

446

626

40

109

339

293

1,964

1,538

In thousands of NZD

Creditors

Other payables
Taxes payable (GST and PAYE)
TOTAL PAYABLES

Accounting policies

8. Receivables

a) Creditors and other payables
2017

2016

Receivables from provision of
services (exchange transactions)

2,618

1,070

Receivables from other activities
(non-exchange transactions)

104

50

(208)

(208)

In thousands of NZD

Less provision for impairment
NET RECEIVABLES

2,514

912

Other receivables

239

383

Accrued interest

33

34

2,786

1,329

TOTAL RECEIVABLES
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Short-term payables are recorded at the amount
payable.

10. Employee entitlements
2017

2016

Accrued salaries and wages

105

95

Accrued performance payments

141

134

669

665

18

60

933

954

Long service leave provision

70

92

TOTAL NON-CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

70

92

1,003

1,046

In thousands of NZD

Current:

Annual leave provision
Long service leave provision
TOTAL CURRENT EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Non-current:

TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting policies
a) Short-term employee entitlements
Short-term employee entitlements are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the EPA has a present
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as
a result of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably. Employee
entitlements that are expected to be settled within 12
months of balance date are measured based on accrued
entitlements at current rates of pay. These include
salaries and wages accrued to balance date, annual
leave earned but not yet taken at balance date.
A liability and an expense for performance payments
are recognised where there is a contractual obligation
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

b) Long-term employee entitlements

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on
years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood
that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and
contractual entitlements information; and
• the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
The risk-free discount rates and salary inflation rate are
published by the Treasury for consolidation into the
Government’s financial statements at 30 June 2017.

c) Defined contribution plans
The EPA’s contributions to defined benefit plans are
expensed in surplus and deficit as incurred.
Annual leave and vested long service leave are
classified as current liabilities. Non-vested long
service leave expected to be settled within 12 months
of balance date are classified as current liabilities. All
other employee entitlements are classified as noncurrent liabilities.

Employee entitlements that are due to be settled
beyond 12 months after the end of period in which the
employee renders the related service. Long service
leave provision has been calculated on an actuarial
basis. The calculations are based on:
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Critical accounting estimate
and assumptions
Measuring long service leave obligations
The present value of the long service and retirement
leave obligations depend on a number of factors
that are determined on an actuarial basis. Two key
assumptions used in calculating this liability are the
discount rates and the salary inflation factor. Any
changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying
amount of the liability.
Expected future payments are discounted using
forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of
New Zealand government bonds. The discount rates
used have maturities that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows. The salary inflation
factor has been determined after considering historical
salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from
the Treasury. The discount rates used were:
• 1 year: 1.97% (2016: 2.12%)
• 2 years: 2.36% (2016: 1.95%)
• 3 or more years: 3.92% (2016: 3.13%).
The salary inflation factor up to 1 year was 1.67%
(2016: 3.0%) and over 1 year was 3.1% (2016: 3.0%).
If the discount rates were to differ by 1% from those
used, with all other factors held constant, the carrying
amount of the long service would be an estimated
$4,500 (2016: $6,000) higher or lower.
If the long-term salary inflation factor were to differ by
1% from that used, with all other factors held constant,

the carrying amount of the long service and retirement
liability would be an estimated $6,300 (2016: $8,000)
higher or lower.

11. Equity
Capital management
The EPA’s equity is its General fund, represented by net
assets. The EPA is subject to the financial management
and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities
Act 2004, which impose restrictions on borrowings,
acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and
indemnities, and the use of derivatives. The EPA
manages its equity as a by-product of prudently
managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities,
investments and general financial dealings, to ensure
the EPA effectively achieves its objectives and purpose
while remaining a going concern. During the current
accounting period the EPA has complied with the above
externally imposed capital requirement.

12. Financial instruments
and risk management
Accounting classification and fair value
The following table shows the carrying amounts of
financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial
instrument categories. The carrying amounts are a
reasonable approximation of the fair values of the
financial instruments.

2017

2016

Cash and cash equivalents

2,107

3,008

Receivables

2,786

1,329

Investments

5,000

5,500

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

9,893

9,837

Payables

1,625

1,245

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

1,625

1,245

In thousands of NZD

Loans and receivables

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
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Financial instruments
• Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash on hand,
deposits held on call with banks and other short-term
deposits with maturities of three months or less.
• Investments comprise of term deposits with banks
with maturities greater than three months.
• Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to the
Inland Revenue (GST and PAYE).

Risk management framework
The EPA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market
risk. The EPA has a number of policies to manage the
risks associated with financial instruments to minimise
exposure. These policies do not allow any transactions
that are speculative in nature to be entered into. The
Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the EPA’s Audit and
Risk Management Committee (the ‘Committee’),
which is responsible for developing and monitoring the
EPA’s risk management policies and framework. The
Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors
on its activities.
The risk management policies and framework are
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by
the EPA, to set appropriate risk limits and controls
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed

regularly to reflect changes in the EPA activities.
The EPA, through its training, management standards
and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined
and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Committee oversees how management monitors
compliance with the EPA’s risk management policies
and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk
management framework in relation to the risks faced
by the EPA. The Committee is assisted in its oversight
role by the risk and assurance function in the EPA
that organises both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk
management controls and procedures, the results of
which are reported to the Committee and the
Board of Directors.

Financial risk management
a) Credit Risk
A credit risk is the risk that a third party will default
on its obligation to the EPA, causing the EPA to incur
a loss. The EPA has processes in place to review the
credit quality of customers before granting credit.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the
EPA invests surplus cash with a registered bank. The
EPA’s investment policy allows the investment of cash
with registered banks with a Standard and Poor’s credit
rating of AA- or higher. There has been no defaults of
interest or principal payments for term deposits.

2017

2016

Westpac Banking Corporation (AA- Rating)

7,107

8,508

TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND TERM DEPOSITS

7,107

8,508

In thousands of NZD

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits held with
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The EPA has significant concentrations of credit risk
from a limited number of parties, through the cost
recovery of expenses related to RMA and EEZ Act
applications. The EPA has no significant concentration
of credit risk from other operations.

The EPA’s maximum credit exposure for each class of
financial instrument is represented by the total carrying
amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
investments term deposits. No collateral is held as
security against these financial instruments, including
instruments that are overdue or impaired.

The ageing profile of receivables at reporting date is detailed below
2017

2016

In thousands of NZD

Gross

Impairment

Net

Gross

Impairment

Net

Due within 30 days

1,380

-

1,380

701

-

701

Past due 31–60 days

599

-

599

28

-

28

Past due 61–90 days

191

-

191

4

-

4

Past due over 90 days
TOTAL

824

(208)

616

804

(208)

596

2,994

(208)

2,786

1,537

(208)

1,329

There has been no movement in the provision for impairment ($208,000) in respect of receivables during the year.

b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the EPA will encounter
difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by cash payment. The
EPA’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when they are due without risking damage
to its reputation.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities
The table below analyses the EPA’s financial liabilities
into maturity groupings, based on the remaining period
at the balance date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows.

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flow

Less than 6
months

6–12 months

Later than 1
year

2016 Payables*

1,245

1,245

1,245

-

-

2017 Payables*

1,625

1,625

1,625

-

-

In thousands of NZD

*Payables exclude taxation liabilities owing to the Inland Revenue (GST and PAYE).
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13. Operating leases

c) Market Risk
i. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates. The EPA is exposed to interest
rate risks if its investments are at variable interest rates.
At reporting date, the EPA had no variable interest rate
investments. The EPA’s investment policy requires a
spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to
short-term interest rate movements.

Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of
term deposits
The maturity dates and weighted average effective
interest rates for term deposits are as follows:

The EPA’s operating lease commitments relate to the
lease of the premises, in which five floors are occupied
with two rights of renewal to 2027, and car parks. The
future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid
under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows.
2017

2016

1,277

1,277

3,834

5,107

-

-

5,111

6,384

2017

2016

71

71

211

282

282

353

In thousands of NZD

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later
than five years
Later than five years

2017

2016

Term deposit maturities of four to
six months with average maturity
of 159 days (2016: four to six
months with average maturity of
157 days).

5,000

5,500

Weighted average effective
interest rate (%)

3.33%

In thousands of NZD

Leases as a leasee

TOTAL NON-CANCELLABLE
OPERATING LEASES

Operating leases liability
In thousands of NZD

3.31%

There were four term deposits, as at reporting date,
with maturity dates between four to six months that
were invested at fixed interest rates between 3.05% to
3.45% (2016: 3.25% to 3.47%).

Sensitivity analysis – interest rate risk
If the average daily bank interest rate had been 50 basis
points lower or higher for the year ended 30 June 2017,
with all other variables held constant, the surplus for the
year would have been $36,000 higher (2016: $48,000)
or $34,000 lower (2016: $48,000).

ii. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates. The EPA has no significant
exposure to foreign currency risks, as most of its
transactions and financial instruments are denominated
in New Zealand dollars.

iii. Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices. The EPA has no financial instrument that
is exposed to changes in market prices.

Accommodation lease – current
Accommodation lease –
non-current
TOTAL OPERATING LEASE
LIABILITIES

Accounting policies
Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the
EPA are classified as operating leases. Lease payments
under an operating lease are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives received are initially recognised as a liability
and then amortised as a reduction in operating lease
costs over the lease term.

Judgements
a) Determining lease classification
Determining whether a lease agreement is an operating
or a finance lease requires judgement as to whether
the agreement transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the EPA. Judgement
is required on various aspects that include, but are
not limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, the
economic life of the leased asset, whether or not
to include renewal options in the lease term and
determining an appropriate discount rate to calculate
the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Classification as a finance lease means the asset is
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
as property, plant and equipment, whereas for an
operating lease no such asset is recognised.
All lease arrangements have been assessed to be
operating leases.
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14. Related-party
transactions and key
management personnel
The EPA is a Crown Entity that is controlled by the
Crown.

a) Significant transactions with governmentrelated entities
The EPA has not disclosed related-party transactions
which have been made on an arm’s length basis.
The EPA received revenue from the Crown of $25.267
million (2016: $26.117 million) for specific purposes as
set out in its founding legislation and the scope of the
relevant government appropriations.

b) Key management personnel remuneration
and compensation
The EPA classifies its key management personnel into
the following categories:
• Executive Leadership Team
• Directors of the EPA Board and Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga
Taiao
• Members of the HSNO and EEZ Decision Making
Committees
The table below shows the aggregate remuneration
of key management personnel and the number of
individuals determined on a full-time equivalent basis.

2017

2016

2,146

1,894

9.43

7.00

Remuneration

200

200

Full-time equivalent members

1.03

1.04

60

72

0.47

0.64

37

83

0.32

0.76

Remuneration

363

-

Full-time equivalent members

1.63

-

TOTAL KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

2,806

2,249

TOTAL FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT PERSONNEL

12.88

9.44

In thousands of NZD

Executive Leadership Team
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Board Members

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
EEZ Decision Making Committee
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Full-time equivalent for the Board is based on 50
working days for the Chair, 37.5 working days for the
Deputy Chair and 30 working days for members, in
accordance with Cabinet Office Circular CO (09)5. The
full-time equivalent for the other committee members is
based on the hours paid to the committee members.

The remuneration paid to Directors of the EPA Board
and Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, and members of the
HSNO and EEZ Decision Making Committees are as
follows.

2017

2016

Kerry Prendergast

48

48

Kevin Thompson

26

26

Dayle Hunia

21

21

Geoffrey Thompson

21

21

Gillian Wratt

21

21

Kura Denness

21

21

Nicki Crauford

21

21

Tim Lusk

21

21

TOTAL

200

200

In thousands of NZD

2017

2016

24

27

Lisa te Heuheu

6

4

Daniel Hikuroa

3

1

James Doherty

10

18

James Whetu

4

10

Kelly May

3

3

Maree Haupai Puke

6

3

Ngaire Burley

4

6

60

72

In thousands of NZD

Board

Ngā Kaihautū Tikanaga Taiao
Steven (Tīpene) Wilson

TOTAL
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2017

2016

Kevin Thompson

8

20

Deborah Read

-

9

Derek Belton

5

-

Helen Atkins

-

2

John Taylor

3

7

Kerry Laing

6

10

Louise Malone

3

8

Ngaire Phillips

6

16

Nick Roskruge

2

8

Sharon Adamson

4

3

37

83

TOTAL BOARD AND STATUTORY COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

297

355

In thousands of NZD

2017

2016

99

-

Gerda Kuschel

2

-

Gerald Coates

109

-

60

-

Kerry Prendergast

2

-

Miria Pomare

4

-

87

-

In thousands of NZD

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Committee

TOTAL

EEZ Decision Making Committee
Alick Shaw

Kevin Thompson

Sharon McGarry
TOTAL

363

-

TOTAL BOARD, STATUTORY COMMITTEE AND
EEZ DECISION MAKING COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

660

355
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15. Indemnity
The Board has insurance cover against loss caused by
wrongful acts or omissions of test certifiers approved
by the Board under the HSNO Act, where the acts or
omissions occurred in a professional capacity involving
test certifiers’ duties under the HSNO Act. The Board
has also agreed to indemnify members (as well as
members of Ngā Kaihautū Tikanga Taiao, members
of the HSNO Committee, external experts co-opted
to Decision Making Committees and EPA employees)
for acts or omissions made in good faith and in the
performance or intended performance of the EPA’s
functions. The Board has insurance cover for members
of the Board and staff for personal accident and travel
risks associated with overseas travel on EPA business.

16. Contingent assets
or liabilities
There were no contingent assets or liabilities as at 30
June 2017 (2016: Nil).

17. Events after the balance
sheet date
There were no significant events occurring after
reporting date that would materially affect these
financial statements (2016: Nil).

18. Explanation of significant
variances against budget
Explanations for significant variations from the EPA
budget figures in the Statement of Performance
Expectations are as follows:

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue
and Expenses
Revenue
Favourable cost recoveries from EEZ of $1.1 million
and local government support of $0.8 million. These
were offset by lower cost recoveries for two nationally
significant proposals (NSP’s) ($1.8 million) which
commenced later than expected; and fewer applicants
than expected for hazardous substances and new
organisms ($0.3 million).

Expenses
As a result of the later running of the NSP’s a
reduced amount of Decision Making Committee,
accommodation and travel costs were incurred totalling
$1.8 million.
Consultancy costs were $1.9 million above budget
mainly due to implementation costs of a new cloud
based financial management information system. Being
cloud based, the costs incurred are expensed to surplus
and deficit rather than capitalised as an asset.

Statement of Financial Position
Cash and cash equivalents, and investments
Cash balances $2.0 million higher than expected
reflecting lower spend on capital expenditure.

Receivables
The receivables balance is $2.0 million higher than
expected due to timing of an EEZ application, which
resulted in a higher amount owing as at balance date of
$1.2 million. Additionally, an old overdue debt of $0.8
million which is subject to a judicial review decision
remains outstanding.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets were $2.8 million less than budgeted
as there has been less spent on capital expenditure
than budgeted e.g. software purchases. The EPA moves
to implement cloud-based applications classified as
operational expenditure for accounting purposes.
Additionally, the amortisation of the old financial system
has been accelerated to reflect that it has
been replaced.

Employee entitlements
Employee entitlements were more than budget by $0.1
million largely due to a higher than expected annual
leave liability and salary accruals.

Creditors and other payables
Creditors and other payables were $0.2 million higher
than expected primarily due to project expenditure and
recoverable costs from EEZ applications in progress as
at balance date.

Statement of Cash Flows
Receipts from other revenue were less than budgeted,
mainly due to lower cash collection on cost recovery of
NSP and EEZ applications at year-end. This was offset
by fewer than anticipated intangible asset purchases.
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Independent
Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the Environmental Protection
Authority’s financial statements and
performance information for the year ended
30 June 2017

–– its standards of delivery performance achieved
as compared with forecasts included in the
statement of performance expectations for the
financial year; and

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Environmental
Protection Authority (the EPA). The Auditor-General
has appointed me, Chrissie Murray, using the staff
and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the
audit of the financial statements and the performance
information, including the performance information for
appropriations, of the EPA on his behalf.

–– its actual revenue and output expenses as
compared with the forecasts included in the
statement of performance expectations for the
financial year; and

Opinion
We have audited:
• The financial statements of the EPA on pages 54 to
73, that comprise the statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2017, the statement of comprehensive
revenue and expenses, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended
on that date and the notes to the financial statements
including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information; and

–– what has been achieved with the
appropriations; and
–– the actual expenses or capital expenditure
incurred compared with the appropriated or
forecast expenses or capital expenditure.
–– complies with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand.
Our audit was completed on 30 October 2017. This is
the date at which our opinion is expressed.

• the performance information of the EPA on pages
22 to 42.

The basis for our opinion is explained below. In addition,
we outline the responsibilities of the Board and our
responsibilities relating to the financial statements and
the performance information, we comment on other
information, and we explain our independence.

In our opinion:

Basis for our opinion

• The financial statements of the EPA:

We carried out our audit in accordance with the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and
the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand)
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Responsibilities
of the auditor section of our report.

–– present fairly, in all material respects:
–– its financial position as at 30 June 2017; and
–– its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended; and
–– comply with generally accepted accounting
practice in New Zealand in accordance with
Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards, and
the performance information:
• presents fairly, in all material respects, the EPA’s
performance for the year ended 30 June 2017,
including:
–– for each class of reportable outputs:
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We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board for the financial
statements and the performance information
The Board is responsible on behalf of the EPA for
preparing financial statements and performance
information that are fairly presented and comply
with generally accepted accounting practice in
New Zealand. The Board is responsible for such
internal control as it determines is necessary to enable
it to prepare financial statements and performance
information that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the
performance information, the Board is responsible
on behalf of the EPA for assessing the EPA’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Board is also
responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to
merge or to terminate the activities of the EPA, or there
is no realistic alternative but to do so.

For the budget information reported in the financial
statements and the performance information,
our procedures were limited to checking that
the information agreed to the EPA’s statement of
performance expectations, Statement of Intent 2016
- 2020 and the relevant Estimates and Supplementary
Estimates of Appropriations 2016/2017.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the
electronic publication of the financial statements and
the performance information.
As part of an audit in accordance with the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. Also:

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of
the financial statements and the performance
information

• We identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements and the
performance information, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements and the
performance information, as a whole, are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion.

• We obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the EPA’s internal
control.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance
with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts
or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error.
Misstatements are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the decisions of readers, taken on the basis
of these financial statements and the performance
information.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown
Entities Act 2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported
performance information within the EPA’s framework
for reporting its performance.
• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of
the going concern basis of accounting by the Board
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
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conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
EPA’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements and
the performance information or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the EPA to cease to
continue as a going concern.
• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the financial statements and the
performance information, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements and the
performance information represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
We communicate with the Board regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act
2001.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included
on pages 4 to 21, 43 to 53, and 77 to 83, but does not
include the financial statements and the performance
information, and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the
performance information does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of audit
opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements
and the performance information, our responsibility
is to read the other information. In doing so, we
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements and
the performance information or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on our work, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independence
We are independent of the EPA in accordance
with the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the independence requirements of
Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised):
Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners issued
by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board.
Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have no
relationship with, or interests, in the EPA.

Chrissie Murray
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Appendix 1
New organism decisions made by Institutional Biological Safety Committees (IBSCs) under
delegated authority during 2016/17, as at 30 June 2017
IBSCs in academic and research institutions and within industry are authorised to undertake decision-making
functions for applications relating to low-risk genetically-modified organisms in containment.

New organism decisions made by IBSCs under delegated authority for 2016-17
IBSC Application type

Total decisions
notified 2016-17

Total decisions
notified 2015-16

Total decisions
notified 2014-15

GMO development in containment – rapid assessment

0

2

1

GMO import into containment – rapid assessment

0

0

1

Minor or technical amendments

0

4

5

SUB TOTAL

0

6

7

GMO development in containment – rapid assessment

1

0

0

GMO import into containment – rapid assessment

0

1

0

Minor or technical amendments

0

3

2

SUB TOTAL

1

4

2

GMO development in containment – rapid assessment

8

5

16

GMO import into containment – rapid assessment

2

0

0

Minor or technical amendments

10

13

18

SUB TOTAL

20

18

34

GMO development in containment – rapid assessment

0

0

5

GMO import into containment – rapid assessment

0

0

5

Minor or technical amendments

0

0

1

SUB TOTAL

0

0

11

21

28

54

Lincoln University

Massey University

University of Auckland

University of Otago

TOTAL
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Appendix 2
Hazardous substance and new organism applications: further information
New organism decisions – Part 5
Note: This table presents information on application numbers processed by the EPA. Decisions by Institutional
Biological Safety Committees (IBSCs) are not shown here, see Appendix 1.

Application type

Actual numbers
2016-17

Actual numbers
2015-16

% met all statutory
time frames 2016-17 1

% met all statutory
time frames 2015-16

New organism release (includes full and conditional)
Notified

1

5

100 %

100%

Rapid

1

2

100%

100%

Notified

0

0

-

N/A

Non-notified

5

2

100%

100%

Rapid

0

0

-

N/A

New organism containment

Genetically modified organism (GMO) release (includes full and conditional)
Notified

0

0

-

N/A

Rapid

0

2

100%

100%

GMO containment (includes developments and imports)
Notified

0

0

-

N/A

Non-notified

3

4

100%

100%

Rapid

6

3

100%

100%

0

0

-

N/A

6

6

-

N/A 2

22

24

Transhipment (GMO or New Organism)
Transhipment
Determination of New Organism status
Determination
TOTAL

Note 1: Includes those with time waivers granted under section 59.
Note 2: N/A: No statutory time frame requirements.
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Application type

Actual numbers
2016-17

Actual numbers
2015-16

Actual
2014-15

3

10

8

10

25

24

21

28

54

1

1

1

Other:
Non-statutory activity
Amendment of existing approvals
Non-statutory advice of status in New Zealand
Institutional Biological Safety Committee activity
Monitoring of IBSC decisions by the EPA
Audit of IBSC delegation

Number of hazardous substance decisions and advice – Parts 5 and 6a
Application type

Actual
2016-17

Actual
2015-2016

% met all statutory
time frames 2016-17

% met all statutory
time frames 2015-16

4

5

100%

100%

Non-notified

48

54

95.8%

100%

Rapid

46

53

97.8%

100%

15

12

80%

100%

0

0

-

-

1

4

100%

100%

Import or manufacture for release
Notified

Import or manufacture in containment
Non-notified
Emergency use applications
Special emergency
Transhipment
Transhipment of hazardous
substance
Reassessments
Grounds

5

5

N/A

N/A

Modified

1

4

100%

100%

Full

1

2

100%

100%

Externally generated

0

0

-

-

Internally generated

0

0

-

-

Amendments

0

1

N/A

N/A

Amendment of existing approval

16

25

N/A

N/A

Statutory determination on a
substance

39

0

N/A

-

176

165

Group standards

Other

TOTAL
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Number of hazardous substance decisions – Part 6 (from EPA)
Application type

Actual
2016-2017

Actual
2015-2016

% met all statutory
time frames 2016-17

% met all statutory
time frames 2015-16

9

7

N/A

N/A

149

156

98.7%

100%

94

78

100%

100%

0

0

252

241

Permissions and Licences
Permissions
Explosives
Standard Explosives Import
Certificate
Novelty Fireworks Import
Certificate
Waivers
Sale of fireworks at other times
TOTAL

-
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Number of hazardous substance decisions – Part 6 (from WorkSafe NZ)
Application type

Applications received
at and decided by
WorkSafe 2016/17

Applications received
at and decided by
WorkSafe 2015/16

% meeting
all statutory time
frames 2016/17

% meeting
all statutory time
frames 2015/16

88%

80%

Test certifiers
Initial approvals

8

Renewals

31

Extensions

26

9

Periodic tester

81%
75%

38

29

97%

86%

Applications decided
2016/17

Applications decided
2015/16

% meeting all statutory
time frames 2016/17

% meeting all statutory
time frames 2015/16

Burners

18

25

N/A

N/A

Compliance Plans

31

27

N/A

N/A

Dispensers

1

2

N/A

N/A

Disused tanks

8

11

N/A

N/A

Inspection agencies

3

1

N/A

N/A

Vaporisers

0

9

N/A

N/A

• For vertebrate toxic
agents

607

722

N/A

N/A

• For explosives

307

382

8

7

N/A

N/A

2

1

N/A

N/A

29

27

N/A

N/A

0

1

N/A

N/A

47

33

N/A

N/A

3

0

N/A

N/A

0

0

N/A

N/A

0

0

N/A

N/A

approvals

Application type

Approvals

(tanks and secondary
containment)

Permissions and Licences
Controlled Substance
Licences

Test Certificates
Extension of Location
Test Certificate
Duration of stationary
container system test
certificate

Waivers
Pre-commissioning
requirements for
cylinders
Fire-fighting facility
requirements
Reduction of
separation distances
Waivers for secondary
containment
Clearance of imported
cylinder fittings

Codes of Practice
Approved Codes of
Practice

82 | APPENDICES

Number of ozone-depleting substance decisions
Application type

Actual 2016-17

Actual 2015-2016

Actual 2014-15

Actual 2013-14

5

8

7

19

30

19

25

24

0

0

0

3

Methyl Bromide replacement
Regulation 7(3)

10

12

10

9

TOTAL

45

39

65

108

Actual 2016-17

Actual 2015-16

Import hazardous waste

45

57

Export hazardous waste

37

42

Transit of hazardous waste

4

5

Asbestos containing products (new from 1 October 2016)

1

NA

87

104

Export permit
Regulation 23
Import exemption
Regulation 33
Methyl Bromide wholesaler import
Regulation 7(1)

Import/export permits
Application type

TOTAL

Others
Graphic material evidence of compliance with group standard (new from 1 January 2017).
2016/17: 129 Ministry of Health numbers issued.

Appendix 3

Appendix 4

Environmental user charges

New Zealand Business Number

Under the HSNO Act, the EPA Board may consider
imposing an environmental user charge as an
alternative, or addition, to controls in granting an
approval for a hazardous substance. The EPA Board did
not consider imposing environmental user charges in
the 2016/17 financial year. With all approvals granted
to date, controls were considered the most effective
means of managing risks throughout the lifecycles of
the approved substances.

The Ministers of State Services and Finance have
directed that Agencies must report, in their annual
reports, on progress towards the goal of implementing
the New Zealand Business Number (NZBN) by 31
December 2018.
We have begun work towards achieving this goal. The
NZBN has been integrated into some core EPA systems,
such as the Customer Relationship Management
system. The new New Zealand Emissions Trading
Register has included the NZBN for all companies –
this will allow for the solution to have the capability to
interface with the Ministry of Primary Industries and
Ministry for the Environment systems in the future. The
current system allows for the collection of the NZBN,
and it is reportable.
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